Promoting ecosystem and human health under climate change

——An integrated analysis of sustainable olive cultivation in Cyprus

by

Ningjing Wang

A Dissertation Submitted to The Department of Environmental Health Sciences At Yale School of Public Health In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Public Health

April 2020

Advisor: Dr. Vasilis Vasiliou (primary) Dr. Joshua Wallach (secondary) ProQuest Number: 27961336

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent on the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 27961336

Published by ProQuest LLC (2020). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All Rights Reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346

Abstract

Achieving agricultural sustainability has become a high priority to ensure society's current and future food needs without compromising ecosystem health, economic profitability, and human well-being. Organic agriculture has been proposed as an alternative to conventional farming for meeting sustainable goals. However, empirical evidence linking organic farming, human health, and sustainability in the context of climate change is scarce. In addition, previous studies comparing organic and conventional agriculture have not considered the variation in farming practices within the same management regime.

In this study, a multi-criteria sustainability assessment framework with ten indicators has been developed and proposed for sustainable olive cultivation and applied to a case study in Cyprus to evaluate the economic, ecological, and human health implications of ten organic and conventional olive orchards using different management practices. Our results indicate advantages of organic olive cultivation for higher market price, soil biodiversity maintenance, less intensive pesticide application, and higher content of polyphenols in the olive oil. However, there is a large variation in sustainability performance within the same management system. In general, we suggest organic agriculture is more beneficial for ecosystem and human health compared to conventional farming, and recommend conservation practices such as no-till, intercropping, and cover cropping, as well as optimal irrigation decisions to achieve sustainable olive cultivation under semi-arid Mediterranean climate.

Acknowledgements

My deep gratitude first goes to my thesis advisor Dr. Vasilis Vasiliou, and my academic advisor, Dr. Joshua Wallach, who not only shared their insightful suggestions on my thesis, but also provided me with continuous and generous support throughout my graduate education at Yale School of Public Health.

I would also like to thank Dr. Tassos Kyriakides, Nicolas Netien, Omiros Omiro, and my colleagues and friends at Atsas farm who have made this research project possible and have brought me unforgettable memories in Cyprus. I am particularly grateful to Dr. Panagiotis Dalias at the Agricultural Research Institute in Cyprus for his assistance with soil sampling and laboratory analysis. In addition, I want to thank Dr. Rose, Dr. Stolwijk, and the Frederick P. and Sandra P. Rose Foundation, since this work was supported in part by the Yale Jan A. J. Stolwijk Fellowship.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and all my teachers and friends at Yale for their invaluable guidance and encouragement, without which this thesis would never have taken shape.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	6
2.	Selection of Sustainability indicators	9
	2.1 Existing methodologies for measuring agricultural sustainability	10
	2.1.1 The concept of agricultural sustainability	10
	2.1.2 Approaches to measure sustainability	12
	2.2 Characteristics and challenges of olive cultivation	16
	2.2.1 Overview of olive cultivation and production	16
	2.2.2 Sustainability challenges of olive cultivation	17
	2.3 Creating site-specific indicators	18
	2.3.1 Limitations of existing indicators	18
	2.3.2 Sustainability indicators for olive cultivation	19
3.	Case study in Cyprus	21
	3.1 Material and methods	21
	3.1.1 Study area and sites	21
	3.1.2 Structured farmer survey	22
	3.1.3 Biodiversity survey	23
	3.1.4 Soil analysis	24
	3.1.5 Determination of pesticide residues	25
	3.1.6 Oil nutritional analysis	27
	3.2 Results	29
	3.2.1 Site characteristics	29
	3.2.2 Economic viability	30
	3.2.3 Ecosystem health	31
	3.3.3.1 Soil health and carbon sequestration	31
	3.2.3.2 Biodiversity maintenance	35
	3.2.4 Human health	41
	3.2.4.1 Pesticide application and residue levels	41
	3.2.4.2 Oil nutritional quality	42
	3.3 Discussion	44
	3.3.1 Economic viability	44
	3.3.2 Ecosystem health	45
	3.3.2.1 Soil Health	45
	3.3.2.2 Carbon sequestration	48
	3.3.2.3 Biodiversity maintenance	49
	3.3.3 Human health	53
	3.3.3.1 Pesticide application and residue levels	53
	3.3.3.2 Oil nutritional quality	59
4.	Recommendations and limitations	63
5.	Conclusion	64
Re	ferences	77
Ар	pendix A	48

List of Tables

Table 1. The 11 sub-indicators of SDG indicator 2.4.1.15
Table 2. The multi-criteria framework and sustainability indicators for the evaluationof sustainability performance of olive farming systems.19
Table 3. Olive grove data in terms of location, management systems and farming practices.30
Table 4. Annual olive fruit and oil yield and gross income in the past five years (2014-2018).31
Table 5. Soil physicochemical properties of the ten sites at 0-20 cm.32
Table 6. Comparison of Olsen P, K, TN and TOC in organic and conventional olive orchards (Mann-Whitney U test, α =0.05).33
Table 7. Total number of individuals, richness, diversity and evenness of edaphicarthropods community captured in the different olive orchards.35
Table 8. Comparison of total abundance, richness, diversity and evenness of edaphic arthropods collected in organic and conventional systems (Mann-Whitney U test, α =0.05).
Table 9. Total number of individuals, richness, diversity and evenness of canopy arthropods community captured in the different olive orchards.39
Table 10. Comparison of total abundance, richness, diversity and evenness of canopy arthropods collected in organic and conventional systems (Mann-Whitney U test, α =0.05).
Table 11. Self-report pesticide application in different olive orchards.42
Table 12 Concentrations of phenolic compounds (hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and their derivatives) of organic and conventional olive oil made from Koroneiki olives.43

List of Figures

Figure 1. Location of the case study area and sites in Cyprus.	22
Figure 2. Installation of pitfall traps and sticky traps for arthropod monitoring.	24
Figure 3. The correlation between total organic carbon (TOC) and total nitrogen (T across ten sites.	ГN) 33
Figure 4. Soil (A) Olsen P, (B) K, (C)TN, and (D)TOC levels of the fields with years of olive cultivation at the Atsas farm.	0-4 34
Figure 5. Abundance of edaphic arthropods by taxon captured in the ten olive orchan	rds. 37
Figure 6. Abundance of canopy arthropods by taxon captured in the ten olive orchan	rds.

1. Introduction

Despite the presumed continuing decline in the global average fertility rate, the human population is still expected to increase by 2 billion between 2020 and 2050 (UN, 2019), which will require a significantly greater amount of calories, proteins, fats, and nutrients than our current food system can support (Cheeseman, 2016). The imbalance between the escalating food demand and the limited availability of land and other natural resources is posing unprecedented challenges to our global food security and may increase its susceptibility to environmental perturbations, market volatility, and changes in energy or trade policies (Suweis et al., 2015). Meanwhile, climate change is likely to exacerbate the current food insecurity, especially in regions that are already vulnerable to hunger and malnutrition (Wheeler & Braun, 2013). In addition to the changes in temperature and rainfall patterns which will affect agricultural productivity, an emerging body of evidence has indicated that climate change is decreasing the nutritional quality of various important food crops, including rice and wheat, which may add to the global burden of malnutrition and micronutrient deficiencies (Smith & Mayers, 2018). Thus, creating and maintaining an economically, socially, and environmentally sustainable and climate-resilient food system (FAO, 2018) is critical for not only feeding but also nourishing the global population and improving human well-being.

While a food system includes all processes and resources involved in producing, processing, distributing, marketing, and consuming food (Neff *et al.*, 2015), achieving agricultural sustainability is of fundamental importance to improve food security and

human nutrition (Arora, 2018). However, conventional agriculture, the most prevailing agricultural system in modern times, is perceived as unsustainable. Conventional agriculture, also referred as "modern farming" or "industrial agriculture", is defined as "capital-intensive, large-scale, highly mechanized agriculture with monocultures of crops and extensive use of artificial fertilizers, herbicides and pesticides, with intensive animal husbandry" (Knorr *et al.*, 1984). The heavy reliance of conventional agriculture on synthetic fertilizers, pesticides, antibiotics, and fossil fuel, has been associated with various environmental problems, such as soil erosion, leaching of harmful chemicals, loss of biodiversity, and many other indicators of environmental degradation (Auerswald *et al.*, 2006). At the same time, conventional farming also poses potential threat to human well-being and public health for its negative impacts on farm worker safety, human nutrition, and smallholders' self-sufficiency (Primentel *et al.*, 2005).

Since the late half of the 20th century, alternative systems such as organic farming, conservation agriculture, and regenerative agriculture, have been proposed to challenge the conventional agriculture paradigm and shift towards a more sustainable agriculture (Beus & Dunlap, 1990). These alternative approaches draw from both traditional practices and scientific innovations, and often encompass certain philosophy or values that integrate land stewardship with agriculture and consider the wellbeing of future generations (Neher, 2018).

Organic agriculture, for example, is characterized by minimum use of synthetic pesticides and mineral fertilizers in anticipation of protecting natural qualities

(Hansen *et al.*, 2006). However, whether organic systems have overall advantages over conventional agriculture and are likely to achieve sustainable goals is debatable. Organic farming has been claimed as highly context-dependent since there is great uncertainty in its yields and environmental performance (Seufert & Navin, 2017). Particularly, organic and conventional management regimes can both comprise a wide range of farming practices which may affect agricultural performance differently (Gomiero *et al.*, 2011).

In this study, we seek to evaluate the sustainability performance of organic and conventional olive farming under semi-arid climate while taking into consideration of the variation of farming practices applied within the same management system.

Olive is the most essential component of the Mediterranean diet, which has long been proposed as one of the healthiest eating styles (Willett *et al.*, 1995). Studies suggest that the lipid profile as well as the antioxidant and other biological activities of phenolic compounds in olive oil are associated with decreased lipid and DNA damage, and thus have potential cardiovascular and anti-cancer effects (Covas *et al.*, 2009; Gill *et al.*, 2010). However, olive production and the persistence of the Mediterranean diet is currently threatened by the ongoing challenges of global markets, industrial agriculture and climate change (Ponti *et al.*, 2016). Pronounced warming (over 4-5°C), decrease in precipitation (over 25-30%) and more frequent extreme heat events (Giorgi & Lionello, 2008) are likely to reduce multiple cropping suitability, change disease and pest distributions, and exacerbate current water scarcity pressure on olive cultivation in the Mediterranean region. High economic losses from

olive culture are likely to happen in Italy, Greece, and the Middle East, especially for small farms in areas prone to desertification (Ponti *et al.*, 2014). To ensure food, nutritional and socio-economic security, it is critical to develop context-specific indicators for agricultural sustainability and identify effective alternatives to sustain olive production and the Mediterranean dietary pattern.

To fulfill these goals, we first developed a framework and relevant indicators for evaluating the sustainability performance of olive farming by reviewing existing sustainability assessment tools and examining the characteristics and challenges of olive cultivation in the Mediterranean region. We then performed a case study in Cyprus to demonstrate the application of these criteria and indicators, and assess the sustainability of organic and conventional olive farming with a special focus on their environmental and human health implications.

This study will serve as a pilot study on sustainable agricultural development in Cyprus, provide empirical experience for rainfed and irrigated olive farming in semiarid regions, and inspire small farmers in marginal areas to respond actively and effectively to climate change impacts.

2. Selection of Sustainability Indicators

The suitability and outcomes of alternative practices often vary due to multiple factors such as agroecological zones, farm sizes, cultural preferences, economic policies, etc. (Sardinas & Kremen, 2015), highlighting the need for site-specific assessment of implementation and sustainability. In this section, we seek to identify a set of appropriate and credible sustainability indicators for olive farming in the Mediterranean region by reviewing existing assessment methodologies as well as the characteristics and challenges of olive cultivation in this area. The indicators and corresponding measuring methods are expected to be relevant, practical, and useful for communication with stakeholders and decision-makers.

2.1 Existing methodologies for measuring agricultural sustainability

2.1.1 The concept of agricultural sustainability

The idea of sustainable agriculture is not new. In the US, the earliest form of sustainability movement almost occurred synchronously with the industrialization of agriculture (Reganold *et al.*, 1990). In his book *Farmers of Forty Centuries: Organic Farming in China, Korea, and Japan*, originally published in 1911, Franklin King, former official of the U.S. Department of Agriculture, depicted how farmers in the East Asia cultivated their land intensively but sustainably for 4,000 years without depleting the soil fertility (2004). In 1989, the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) council, defined sustainable agriculture as:

"...the management and conservation of the natural resource base, and the orientation of technological and institutional change in such a manner as to ensure the attainment and continued satisfaction of human needs for present and future generations. Such development conserves land, water, plant and animal genetic resources, is environmentally non-degrading, technically appropriate economically viable and socially acceptable" (FAO, 1998).

Although this definition has set the basis for many of the later conversations about sustainable agriculture, the concept of "sustainability" is subject to divergent interpretations. One school of thought has defined sustainable agriculture as an alternative ideology or management approach to conventional agriculture (MacRae *et al.*, 1990), which incorporates key values such as low-input, diversity, harmony with nature, equity, self-sufficiency, into describing sustainable systems. Another widelysupported interpretation of sustainability as a property of agriculture emphasizes the system's ability to fulfil a balanced set of goals including food provision, enhancement of environment, economic viability, and social welfare as well as the ability to maintain through time (Hildebrand, 1990).

Hansen (Hansen, 1996) criticized both interpretations for their limited usefulness to guide changes in agriculture. Interpreting agricultural sustainability as an ideological philosophy is subject to a lack of generality, a distorted caricature of conventional agriculture, and circular logic. Interpreting sustainability as a system's property is logically consistent, but requires the characterization of agricultural sustainability to be "literal, system-oriented, quantitative, predictive, stochastic and diagnostic".

In addition, the inherent problems in conventional agriculture, i.e. high input of synthetic chemicals and monoculture, are also extending the social aspects of agricultural sustainability from food provision and self-sufficiency to other dimensions of human health (Horrigon *et al.*, 2002). The increasing antibiotic resistance in humans driven by the extensive use of antibiotics in animal agriculture (Bogaard *et al.*, 2000), the elevated cancer risks and endocrine disruption from pesticide use for farm workers and consumers (Alavanja *et al.*, 2013; Cecchi *et al.*, 2012), and the development of chronic non-communicable diseases from unbalanced diets (Popkin *et al.*, 2006), are emerging topics that need to addressed by sustainable agricultural production.

2.1.2 Approaches to measure sustainability

Measuring and assessing sustainability is challenging. First, the temporal component of sustainability involves future performance and outcomes that are difficult to observe or predict in the given time frame of evaluation (Harrington, 1992). Among the three pillars of sustainability, i.e. environmental, economic and social sustainability, it is relatively easier to quantify current conditions and project future changes of air quality, soil fertility, and other environmental properties, but more difficult to describe and foresee the long-term evolution of social values, relationships, and other economic and social aspects of our production. Second, sustainability is a broad concept which involves multidimensional, complex information. Effective evaluation needs to reduce the complexity of information while retaining the comprehensiveness of the assessment. Third, while assessment tools are often developed by researchers, they should produce useful results that can be translated into meaningful, practical decisions (De Olde *et al.*, 2016).

Generally, there are two main approaches for assessing sustainability. The "bottom-up" approach requires systematic collaboration between researchers and farmers to understand and select a set of key indicators which are interpretable and accessible to the stakeholders (King *et al.*, 2000). In contrast, the "top-down" approach usually starts with a holistic view of sustainability which is then broken down into groups of sub-indicators.

By following and often combining these two approaches, many studies have focused on developing appropriate indicators to analyze and compare the sustainability performance of farms. For example, Indicauters de Durabilité des Exploitations Agricoles (IDEA), an assessment tool widely used in Europe, was developed in six main stages and was based on 41 indicators covering the viability, livability, and environmental reproducibility of farm systems (Candido *et al.*, 2015). Some studies have also proposed structured frameworks to identify principles, criteria and indicators (PC&I) for sustainability assessment. The Sustainability Assessment of Farming and the Environment (SAFE) is a hierarchical framework of which the principles and criteria are derived from the functions of agroecosystems. (Cauwenbergh *et al.*, 2006). The Monitoring Tool for Integrated Farm Sustainability (MOTIFS) (Meul *et al.*, 2008) emphasized stakeholder participation and expert

consulting in the four-step methodological process of generating relevant themes and indicators, and allows a mutual comparison of sustainability using radar graphs.

To further simplify the description of farming systems, several composite indicators have been constructed for sustainability evaluation. Depending on the scope and the application of the study, indicators can be aggregated with or without weights. Methods such as principal components analysis (PCA) and factor analysis are often used when assigning weights to different indicators. Composite indices often require sensitivity analysis to test their robustness (Nardo *et al.*, 2005). Examples of composite indices include Response-Inducing Sustainability Evaluation (RISE), where a farm's score for each of the 10 themes (soil use, animal husbandry, nutrient flows, water use, energy and climate, biodiversity, working conditions, quality of life, economic viability, and farm management) is the average of the normalized scores for several subthemes (Hani *et al.*, 2003), and Organic Livestock Proximity Index (OLPI), where indicators are weighted and aggregated into a global index considering both the European Community regulations for organic livestock farming and agroecological principles (Mena *et al.*, 2011).

In 2018, the UN Inter-agency and Expert Group on Sustainable Development Goal Indicators (IAEG-SDG) approved FAO's methodology for SDG indicator 2.4.1 "Proportion of agricultural area under productive and sustainable agriculture" under SDG target 2.4 (FAO, 2018):

"By 2030, ensure sustainable food production systems and implement

resilient agricultural practices that increase productivity and production, that help maintain ecosystems, that strengthen capacity for adaptation to climate change, extreme weather, drought, flooding and other disasters and that progressively improve land and soil quality."

The SDG indicator 2.4.1 consists of 11 sustainability sub-indicators, and the results are displayed through an indicator dashboard at the national level (Table 1).

Theme	Sub-indicator	Sustainability dimension		
Land productivity	Farm output value per hectare	Economic		
Profitability	Net farm income	Economic		
Resilience	Risk mitigation mechanisms	Economic		
Soil health	Prevalence of soil degradation	Environmental		
Water use	Variation in water availability	Environmental		
Fertilizer pollution risk	Management of fertilizers	Environmental		
Pesticide risk	Management of pesticides	Environmental		
Biodiversity	Use of biodiversity-supportive practices	Environmental		
Decent employment	Wage rate in agriculture	Social		
Food security	Food insecurity experience scale (FIES)	Social		
Land tenure	Secure tenure rights to land	Social		

 Table 1. The 11 sub-indicators of SDG indicator 2.4.1.

Note. Adapted from SDG Indicator 2.4.1. Proportion of Agricultural Area under Productive

and Sustainable Agriculture. Methodological Note (FAO, 2018).

2.2 Characteristics and challenges of olive cultivation

2.2.1 Overview of olive cultivation and production

Olive oil, the major product of olive tree culture, is of great importance to the economics, tradition, and human health in the Mediterranean region (Bach-Faig, *et al.*, 2011; Alonso & Vlad, 2013). Olive is the leading agricultural export of Mediterranean countries including Spain, Italy, Greece, etc., whose olive oil production accounts for more than 90% of the world's total amount (Souilem *et al.*, 2017).

The regular consumption of olive oil is also believed to be partly responsible for the association between the Mediterranean diet and a lower risk of cardiovascular diseases (Estruch *et al.*, 2013). Previous studies indicate that the high levels of monounsaturated fatty acids (e.g. oleic acid) and biologically active phenolic compounds in virgin olive oils may deliver multiple health benefits. For example, oleocanthal (2-(4-Hydroxyphenyl) ethyl (3S,4E)-4-formyl-3-(2-oxoethyl) hex-4enoate), a phenolic compound of particular interest, is a natural anti-inflammatory and antioxidant chemical which can attenuate the development of numerous chronic diseases (Lucas *et al.*, 2011). The chemical composition and polyphenol content of the olive oil are mainly determined by the extraction process (crushing and malaxation) (Lozano-Sánchez *et al.*, 2009), but may also be affected by the agronomical practices applied during cultivation. Some evidence suggests that organic olive oil has higher concentrations of polyphenols than conventionally produced counterparts (Rosati *et al.*, 2014), but the associated health benefits still needs evaluation.

2.2.2 Sustainability challenges of olive cultivation

The Mediterranean region is a primary climate change hotspot which may have extensive impacts on olive cultivation (Tanasijevic *et al.*, 2014). Although rising temperatures are expected to extend cultivable areas for olive growing northward, the suitability of olive cultivation and hence the yield in the southern part of the Mediterranean basin are likely to decrease (Fraga *et al.*, 2020). The range of olive fruit fly (*Bractocera oleae* (Gmelin.)), the most devastating pest of olives, may also extends northward (Ponti *et al.*, 2013). Climate anomalies such as early spring frosts can also affect olive production since olive is sensitive to long periods of freezing.

Another major challenge posed by climate change is the increased water demand in olive culture. Although olive is highly adaptable to drought and dry spells, it usually has better produce with higher rainfall or irrigation especially in the early growing season (Palese *et al.*, 2010). While net irrigation requirements are projected to increase by 18.5% over the Mediterranean region (Tanasijevic *et al.*, 2014), water availability in the area is likely to reduce (García-Ruiz *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, there is a pressing need for optimizing water usage in oive cultivation while maintaining stable productivity and quality.

In addition to the impacts of climate change, olive cultivation and production is also associated with other environmental problems, including biodiversity loss, land degradation, soil and water contamination from fertilization, use of pesticides, and exhausted pomace (Rey *et al.*, 2019). Olive mill wastes might damage the

environment due to their high phytotoxicity, but also represent a precious resource for by-products since they contain most of the phenolic content of the olive fruits.

2.3 Creating site-specific indicators

2.3.1 Limitations of existing indicators

Although various parameters or indices have been developed for measuring agricultural sustainability, we decide to propose a new framework for evaluating the sustainability of olive cultivation. The reasons are as follows.

First, many of the existing methods have too many indicators or components to characterize sustainability, which renders assessment technically difficult and not cost-effective. At the same time, these approaches often fail to account for the interrelations among different components. For example, in the SAFE framework (Cauwenbergh *et al.*, 2006), biodiversity and habitat diversity are treated as two separate criteria despite their correlation.

Second, composite indices also suffer from correlating variables, as well as subjectivity of choosing the weighting system (Gennari *et al.*, 2019). They may lack interpretability and are often unable to reveal the condition or progress of specific components, which makes policy-making difficult.

Third, we believe sustainability indicators should be comprehensive enough to cover the broad scope of the sustainable development goals. However, even the SDG indicator 2.4.1 fails to measure the capacity of the agricultural systems to "adapt to climate change, extreme weather, drought, flooding and other disasters", which is explicitly stated in the SDG target 2.4.

Fourth and most importantly, the indicators should be relevant to the scope of this study, which encompasses the growing conditions for olive trees, the environmental characteristics of semi-arid regions, and the nutritional and cultural value of olive oil. Specifically, we think human health implications are important topics in olive oil cultivation and production, but they are seldom included or emphasized in many of the existing evaluation frameworks.

2.3.2 Sustainability indicators for olive cultivation

Based on the notions of the SDGs, the characteristics and challenges of olive cultivation, and our interviews with the farmers, a multi-criteria framework consisting of ten indicators has been developed for the sustainability assessment of olive farming systems. This framework encompasses three major themes, i.e. economic viability, ecosystem health, and human health, to reflect the economic, environmental, and social components of sustainability in olive cultivation. The relevance and demonstration of these indicators will be detailed in the following sections.

 Table 2. The multi-criteria framework and sustainability indicators for the evaluation of

 sustainability performance of olive farming systems.

Theme	Indicator	Sub-theme	Measuring method	
Economic viability	1. Farm output value per hectare	Productivity and yield	Survey/ Interview	
	2. Gross and Net farm income	Profitability	Survey/ Interview	

Theme	In	dicator	Sub-theme	Measuring method	
Ecosystem Health	3.	Soil physicochemical properties	Soil health	Field sampling and lab analysis	
		(physical structure + fertility status)			
	4.	Soil carbon sequestration	Soil health, climate	Field sampling	
			change mitigation		
	5.	Soil microbial community	Soil health, biodiversity	Field sampling and lab analysis	
			maintenance		
	6.	Water quality	Water health	Field sampling and lab analysis	
	7.	Water-use efficiency	Water health, climate	Survey/ Interview	
			change mitigation		
	8.	Arthropod diversity	Biodiversity maintenance	Field sampling	
Human health	9.	Pesticide application and residue	Farmworker safety,	Interview and lab analysis	
		levels	consumer health		
	10	. Product nutritional quality	Consumer health	Laboratory analysis	

Table 2. Continued.

3. Case study in Cyprus

3.1 Material and methods

3.1.1 Study area and sites

To apply the selected indicators to sustainability assessment of olive cultivation, we performed a case study in a semi-arid region south of Morphou on the outskirts of the Troodos mountains (35°5'~35°6'N, 32°52'~33°56'E, Figure 1), a place that receives the least rainfall in Cyprus (~350 mm per year) and will continue to suffer from declining precipitation (Payab & Türker, 2018). According to projection, it is expected that the annual temperature in Cyprus will increase by 1.3-1.9 °C for the 2021–2050 simulation, and the dry periods with below 1mm of rainfall will increase by 15 days (Giannakopoulos *et al.*, 2010). The greatest changes are expected to occur in the mountainous area of the island, which includes our study area.

Data have been collected across ten sites in two neighboring villages of Skouriotissa and Petra of the same climatic conditions (five organic farms, four conventional farms, and one orchard unmanaged since 1974). These farms have been managed by local smallholders using different management practices for decades. Since we were only able to obtain cross-sectional data for these ten sites, which might provide limited evidence for certain indicators, such as carbon sequestration rates, we also included five sites in a relatively new organic olive orchard (Atsas farm, 35°04'48"N, 32°55'29"E) with 0-4 years of olive cultivation using the same management practices in our study. Part of the Atsas farm is located in the United Nations Buffer Zone, a demilitarized region established in 1964 to prevent fighting.

Since 2003, farmers get permission to enter this area and cultivate arable lands under an agreement between Greek and Turkish Cypriots (UNSC, 2017).



Figure 1. Location of the case study area and sites in Cyprus

3.1.2 Structured farmer survey

Farm owners of each study site were interviewed in August, 2019 using a standardized questionnaire on their farming practices, olive production and oil yield, and target market and gross income (Appendix A). Alternative farming practices

considered in this study include: (1) no tillage or reduced tillage; (2) cover cropping;
(3) intercropping; (3) organic pest management; (4) organic fertilization; (4) crop–
livestock systems (grazing).

3.1.3 Biodiversity survey

To assess the arthropod composition and diversity, which is an important indicator for the influence of farming practices on ecosystem function, a total of 50 pitfall traps and 50 yellow sticky traps were installed on the above-mentioned ten sites on July 2nd, 2019 to monitor the composition and functionality of ground-dwelling (edaphic) arthropods and canopy arthropods (Figure 2). For each farm, five sampling points were located at the vertices and the centroid of a 10m × 10 m quadrat randomly selected inside the orchard to avoid possible edge effects due to neighboring orchards. Pitfall traps with 9 cm height and 7 cm diameter were filled half way with water and laid at soil level. All trapped arthropods were collected after 24 hours, preserved in 70% ethanol and identified to Orders (with Formicidae identified to Family). Sticky traps were 10 × 15 cm two-sided, yellow cards coated with an adhesive and placed on wooden stakes at 1.25 m above the ground. Specimens were collected after 24 hours, labelled, and identified to Orders.



Figure 2. Installation of pit traps (left) and sticky traps (right) for arthropod sampling.

For each site, richness index was calculated based on the number of different orders per trap. Taxa diversity and evenness were obtained following Shannon (H) and Pielou's (J) indices (Magurran, 2004). Given the small sample size and the nonnormal distribution of data, the non-parametric test, Mann-Whitney U test (McKnight & Najab, 2010) was performed in R version 3.6.2 to compare the richness, Shannon diversity, and Pielou's evenness of taxa between organic and conventional farms. Significance was reported at the level of p < 0.05.

3.1.4 Soil analysis

Soil samples were collected from the fifteen sites (including five sites at Atsas) in early July, 2019 to test for physicochemical properties. For each of the ten olive orchards, five sub-samples were taken randomly from surface soil of 0-20 cm depth near the major root zone of the olive trees and mixed into one sample. For the five chronological sites on the Atsas farm, five individual samples were collected in a zigzag manner (Estefan & Rashid, 2001) on each site. Soil samples were air-dried, ground and sieved through a 2-mm sieve for subsequent analyses.

Calcium carbonate (CaCo3) concentration (%) was determined using a Bernard Calcimeter. Soil pH and electrical conductivity (EC) were determined with 1:2.5 soil to water ratio using the methods described in Soil Survey Staff (Soil Survey Staff, 2014). The soil texture was analyzed using a Bouyoucos hydrometer (Bouyoucos, 1936). Extractable phosphorus (P), and available potassium (K) were measured using Olsen *et al.* (1954), and Hald (1947), respectively.

Total nitrogen (TN) and total organic carbon (TOC) were measured using a CHNS-O analyzer (EuroVector EA3000). CaCO3 was removed from the samples by adding HCl before the measurement.

Mann-Whitney U test (McKnight & Najab, 2010) was used to compare soil chemical properties between organic and conventional farms (α =0.05). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed in R version 3.6.2 to test if there were any significant differences among the five chronological sites at the Atsas orchard. Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) Test was used as the post hoc test to identify the significantly different groups if ANOVA revealed a significant result (p < 0.05) (Abdi & Williams, 2010).

3.1.5 Determination of pesticide residues

We selected the following pesticides that are registered and commonly used in olive cultivation for testing: (1) Neonicotinoid pesticides including diflubenzuron, triflumuron, and imidacloprid; (2) Pyrethroid pesticides including α -cypermethrin, λ -cyhalothrin, β -cyfluthrin, and deltamethrin; and (3) Organophosphate including dimethoate, fenthion, and chlorpyrifos. We also included spinosad, glyphosate, and thiacloprid based on the self-reported pesticide use from farmers of our study sites. A complete list of the maximum residue limits (MRLs) for pesticides regulated by the EU can be found at <u>http://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/protection/pesticides/index_en.htm</u>. All stock solutions of the standards (1000 µg/ml) were prepared in acetonitrile (Sigma-Aldrich 34851, Steinheim, Germany) and diluted to the appropriate work concentrations when necessary.

Pesticide residues on olives and in olive oil were determined using the QuEChERS method described in Cunha *et al.* (2007). 100 g olive fruit samples were randomly collected from each site pre- and post- pesticide spraying in early September, 2019. Olive samples were blended and homogenized, and 15g of the homogenized sample was transferred into a 50 ml centrifuge tube. After adding 15 ml of acetonitrile to the sample, the tube was shaken vigorously for 30s and for another 1 min after 6g anhydrous MgSO₄ and 1.5g NaCl were added. The tube was then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min, and 2 ml of the upper phase was transferred into a 15 tube with 300 mg anhydrous MgSO₄, 100 mg primary secondary amine (PSA), 100 mg C₁₈, and 15 mg graphitized carbon

black. The extract was then mixed and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min. The organic phase was used for subsequent gas- (GC) and liquid-chromatography (LC) analysis

Olive oil samples from each orchard were collected after the harvest season of 2019 in December. 3 g of the homogenized sample was transferred into a 50 ml centrifuge tube. After adding 10 ml of acetonitrile to the sample, the tube was shaken vigorously by hand for 1 min, and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min. An aliquot of 4 ml of the acetonitrile extract was transferred into a 15 ml centrifuge tube containing 100 mg PSA (primary secondary amine) and 100 mg C₁₈, and shaken for 30 s and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min. 1 ml of the cleaned-up extract was then transferred into a screw top tube and acidified by adding 10 µl formic acid solution 5% in acetonitrile. The extract was used directly for GC analysis and diluted with a mobile phase (1:5) for LC analysis.

For less polar, semi-volatile pesticides (i.e. λ -Cyhalothrin, α -cypermethrin, β cyfluthrin, deltamethrin, chlorpyrifos, glyphosate), we used GC with electron-capture dissociation (ECD) for residue quantification (Agilent 7890A GC, Agilent, US). The other pesticides were analyzed with LC with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS-MS). The laboratory measurements of pesticide residues would be compared with self-report pesticide use from farmers.

3.1.6 Oil nutritional analysis

Olives of the same variety harvested from each olive orchard were milled at the Atsas milling system. The olives were crushed and the resulting olive paste was kneaded (malaxation) in a mixer for 30 min at 22°C. The oil was decanted after centrifugation and stored in amber bottles in darkness until analysis.

To prepare for the chemical analysis, 5.0g olive oil of each sample was mixed with 20 mL cyclohexane and 25 mL acetonitrile. The mixture was homogenized and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 min. 25 mL of the acetonitrile phase was collected, mixed with 1.0 mL of a syringaldehyde (4-hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxybenzaldehyde) solution (0.5 mg/mL) in acetonitrile, and evaporated under reduced pressure using a rotary evaporator (Rotavapor R-300, Buchi, Switzerland). The concentrations of phenolic compounds, i.e. hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and their derivatives, were measured using quantitative nuclear magnetic resonance (q-NMR) spectroscopy as described in Karkoula *et al.* (2012; 2014). Hydroxytyrosol is mainly present in the form of oleacein (3,4-DHPEA-EDA) and the monoaldehydic form of oleuropein aglycon (3,4-DHPEA-EA), while tyrosol is mainly present in the form of oleocanthal (p-HPEA-EDA) and the monoaldehydic form of ligstroside aglycon (p-HPEA-EA).

3.2 Results

The results for each sustainability indicator are presented below. For this evaluation, we only assessed seven out of the ten indicators. For some of the indicators, including pesticide residue levels and nutritional quality, we may only have partial data given that the laboratory analysis is still being processed. Evaluation of water quality, water use-efficiency, and soil microbial community will be included in future research.

3.2.1 Site characteristics

The locations and summary of farming practices applied on each site are shown in Table 3. A mixture of rain-fed (no-irrigation) and irrigated olive orchards are found in the study region. OF1-3 are no-till, organic farms with permanent ground cover but using different irrigation and grazing strategies. OF4 uses conventional tillage and flood irrigation from March to December. OF5 applies the same irrigation practice but switched from conventional tillage to no-till farming in 2018. All the five organic farms use livestock manure instead of synthetic chemicals for fertilization. CF1 is a no-till, conventional olive orchard using flood irrigation. CF3 implements reduced tillage and uses roundup to remove the weeds. Both CF2 and CF4 are no-till, conventional orchards with no irrigation, and olive trees in CF4 are intercropped with barley (*Hordeum vulgare*).

	ID	Location	Description
	OF1	35°5'34"N, 32°52'58"E	no-till, no irrigation, grazed by donkey, cover crops
	OF2	35°5'34"N, 32°53'2"E	no-till, deficit irrigation, grazed by donkey, cover crops
Organic	OF3	35°5'32"N, 32°52'55"E	no-till, flood irrigation (Feb-May), cover crops
	OF4	35°5'9"N, 32°55'19"E	conventional tillage, no grazing, flood irrigation (Mar-Dec)
	OF5	35°5'30"N, 32°54'52"E	first year no-till, no grazing, flood irrigation (Mar-Dec)
	CF1	35°5'23"N, 32°53'14"E	no-till, flood irrigation
	CF2	35°5'17"N, 32°53'20"E	conventional tillage, no irrigation
Conventional	CF3	35°5'6"N, 32°55'22"E	reduced tillage, roundup, flood irrigation (Mar-Dec)
	CF4	35°5'41"N, 32°54'53"E	conventional tillage, no irrigation, intercropping with barley
Unmanaged	U1	35°5'44"N, 32°55'7"E	unmanaged since 1974

Table 3. Olive grove data in terms of location, management systems and farming practices.

3.2.2 Economic viability

Annual yield and gross income of OF1-5 and CF3-4 are shown in Table 4. Information on management costs and net income is still being collected. OF1-3 have a lower tree density as compared to the other four sites, but the annual fruit and oil yield of OF2 and 3 are comparable to the two conventional orchards with higher tree density. The productivity of OF1, the non-irrigated organic grove, is 20% lower than the two organic sites with deficit irrigation (OF2) and flood irrigation (OF3). The unit price of oil produced by OF1-3 greatly exceeds the average level of the other four sites, which might be due to the high polyphenol content in the oil (see 3.2.4.2). Overall, the organic orchards have a higher gross income per hectare than the conventional ones.

Site	Tree density	Olive fruit		Oil yield (t/ha)		Oil ı	Oil unit		Gross income	
	(/ha)	yield (t/ha)				price	(€/l)	per hect	are (€)	
		Good	Bad	Good	Bad	Good	Bad	Good	Bad	
OF1	133.3	3.3	-	0.56 (17.0%)	-	30	-	18,400.9	-	
OF2	133.3	4	-	0.67 (16.8%)	-	30	-	22,015.3	-	
OF3	133.3	4	-	0.67 (16.8%)	-	30	-	22,015.3	-	
OF4	200	5	1.75	0.75 (15.0%)	0.23	4	5	3,285.9	1,259.6	
OF5	200	5	1.75	0.75 (15.0%)	0.23	4	5	3,285.9	1,259.6	
CF3	200	4	1	0.63 (15.8%)	0.14	3	4	2,070.1	613.4	
CF4	200	3	-	0.50 (16.7%)	-	3	-	1,642.9	-	

Table 4. Annual olive fruit and oil yield and gross income in the past five years (2014-2018).

3.2.3 Ecosystem health

3.2.3.1 Soil health and carbon sequestration

(1) Ten sites

Selected physicochemical properties of the ten sites are shown in Table 5. Soil texture is mainly sandy in the study region. All of the ten sites had a soil pH value

greater than 7.0 with OF1 and OF2 slightly alkaline (pH: 7.4-7.8) and the others moderately alkaline (pH: 7.9-8.5).

	OF1	OF2	OF3	OF4	OF5	CF1	CF2	CF3	CF4	U1
% sand	54.2	54.2	54.2	58.2	58.2	50.2	48.2	58.2	42.2	-
% silt	20.0	20.0	20.0	12.0	18.0	22.0	32.0	16.0	20.0	-
% clay	25.8	25.8	25.8	29.8	23.8	27.8	19.8	25.8	37.8	-
CaCO ₃ (%)	0.6	0	0.6	4.0	3.8	1.0	2.2	3.0	3.8	5.4
EC (mS/cm)	0.37	0.30	0.19	0.23	0.23	0.43	0.23	0.26	0.35	0.17
рН	7.80	7.77	8.20	8.40	8.47	8.16	8.46	8.27	8.12	8.28
Olsen P (ppm)	13.2	8.07	2.64	1.06	2.46	4.24	3.56	0.68	6.17	1.13
K (ppm)	443	575	528	559	401	425	477	376	668	376
TN (%)	0.158	0.138	0.111	0.077	0.074	0.153	0.097	0.088	0.145	0.073
TOC (%)	1.788	1.505	1.039	0.570	0.606	1.538	0.875	0.737	1.167	0.611

Table 5. Soil physicochemical properties of the ten sites at 0-20 cm.

For indicators of soil fertility, Olsen P ranged from 0.68 to 13.2. The highest levels of bioavailable phosphorus were found in OF1 and OF2, followed by CF4 and CF1. CF4 also had the highest soil K level among the ten sites, while CF3 was the lowest in both Olsen P and K concentrations. The unmanaged site U1 was relatively low in soil P and K. There were no significant differences in soil fertility (Olsen P: p =0.905; K: p = 0.730) between the organic and conventional systems (Table 6).

	Organic			Convent		
	Mean (SD)	Median	_	Mean (SD)	Median	P-value
Olsen P (ppm)	5.48 (5.08)	2.64		3.66 (2.28)	3.90	0.905
K (ppm)	501.2 (75.72)	528		486.5 (127.83)	451	0.730
TN (%)	0.11 (0.04)	0.11		0.12 (0.03)	0.12	0.730
TOC (%)	1.10 (0.54)	1.04		1.08(0.35)	1.02	0.905

Table 6. Comparison of Olsen P, K, TN and TOC in organic and conventional olive orchards (Mann-Whitney U test, α=0.05).

With regards to soil nitrogen, OF1, CF1, CF4 and OF2 had the highest levels of TN, whereas only about half of their soil nitrogen content were found in U1, OF5, OF4, and CF3 (Table 5). For soil organic carbon, higher TOC stocks were also observed in OF1, CF1, OF2, and CF4. From Figure 3, there was a significant positive correlation between TN and TOC among all sites (p < 0.0001, Adjusted- $R^2 = 0.91$). No difference was observed in soil nitrogen or organic carbon between organic and conventional systems (Table 6).



Figure 3. The correlation between total organic carbon (TOC) and total nitrogen (TN) across

ten sites.

(2) Atsas farm

For the Atsas farm, the one-way ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test revealed that soil bioavailable P and K were significantly higher (Olsen P: p = 0.905; K: p = 0.730) in the uncultivated (0 year) field than the fields with olive trees planted on (Figure 4. A, B). There was no significant difference in soil fertility among olive orchards with 1-4 years of cultivation. No significant difference was observed for nitrogen and organic carbon stocks among the fields with 0-4 years of cultivation (Figure 4. C, D).



Figure 4. Soil (A) Olsen P, (B) K, (C)TN, and (D)TOC levels of the fields with 0-4 years of olive cultivation at the Atsas farm. Measurements indicated by the same letter within each plot did not differ statistically from each other (Tukey's HSD test, α =0.05).
3.2.3.2 Biodiversity maintenance

(1) Edaphic arthropod abundance and diversity

A total of 621 edaphic arthropods were captured by pitfall traps in the ten olive orchards and were classified into ten different taxa: Isopoda, Opiliones, Araneae, Collembola, Archaeognatha, Orthoptera, Blattodea, Hemiptera, Coleoptera, and Hymenoptera (Formicidae) (Table 7). The pitfall traps also captured 16 individuals belonging to the taxa Diptera and Hymenoptera which are not true ground-dwelling insects and were thus not considered in the analysis.

In total, the most dominant taxa of the soil arthropod community were Formicidae (53.0%), Collembola (27.7%), Coleoptera (8.9%), Araneae (6.9%), and Hemiptera (1.6%). Orthoptera, Isopoda, Archaeognatha, Opiliones, and Blattodea collectively accounted for the remaining 1.9% of the captured edaphic arthropods.

 Table 7. Total number of individuals, richness, diversity and evenness of edaphic arthropods

 community captured in the different olive orchards.

Group	OF1	OF2	OF3	OF4	OF5	CF1	CF2	CF3	CF4	U1
Arachnid										
Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0
Opiliones	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Araneae	8	5	9	5	3	2	4	6	0	1
Entognatha										
Collembola	0	11	25	53	59	2	4	15	3	0

Table	7.	Contin	ued.
-------	----	--------	------

Group	OF1	OF2	OF3	OF4	OF5	CF1	CF2	CF3	CF4	U1
Insecta										
Archaeognatha	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Orthoptera	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
Blattodea	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0
Hemiptera	0	3	3	0	0	2	0	1	0	1
Coleoptera	4	5	7	3	4	3	1	1	24	3
Hymenoptera	62	46	16	9	42	16	12	44	8	74
(Formicidae)										
Total abundance	76	70	63	71	109	25	21	68	39	79
Richness (R)	4	5	8	5	5	5	4	5	5	4
Shannon diversity	0.654	1.106	1.579	0.862	1.101	1.437	1.096	1.215	1.112	0.296
index (H)										
Pienou's eveness (J)	0.472	0.687	0.812	0.536	0.614	0.739	0.791	0.624	0.691	0.214

Figure 5. reveals the different composition of edaphic arthropod community of the ten sites. OF4, OF3, OF5, and CF3 had a larger proportion (>20%) of Collembola, while OF1, OF2, CF1, CF2, CF4 and U1 had relatively low abundance of Collembola (<20%). U1 was disproportionately dominated by ants (Formicidae), while other taxa only accounted for 6.3% of its total abundance. CF4 also had a substantially higher abundance of Coleoptera compared to other sites.



Figure 5. Abundance of edaphic arthropods by taxon captured in the ten olive orchards.

The Mann-Whitney U test revealed a significant difference (p = 0.032) in the total abundance of soil arthropods between organic (median: 71) and conventional systems (median: 32) (Table 8). However, no significant differences were observed in the abundance of any of the individual taxon between organic and conventional farms. There were also no significant differences in taxa richness, diversity and evenness between the two groups.

	Organic			Conver		
	Mean (SD)	Median		Mean (SD)	Median	P-value
Ant abundance	35.00 (22.00)	42		20.00 (16.33)	14	0.279
Total abundance	77.80 (18.05)	71		38.25 (21.28)	32	0.032 *
Richness (R)	5.40 (1.52)	5		4.75 (0.50)	5	0.661
Shannon diversity (H)	1.03 (0.35)	0.96		1.07 (0.08)	1.10	0.413
Pienou's evenness (J)	0.61 (0.11)	0.60		0.69 (0.08)	0.69	0.286

Table 8. Comparison of total abundance, richness, diversity and evenness of edaphic

arthropods collected in organic and conventional systems (Mann-Whitney U test, α =0.05).

Note: * indicates the result is statistically significant at the 0.05 level (Mann-Whitney U test)

(2) Canopy arthropod abundance and diversity

The sticky traps captured a total of 5,256 canopy arthropods belonging to 11 different taxa: Araneae, Hemiptera, Diptera, Coleoptera, Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, Psocoptera, Neuroptera, Ephemeroptera, Thysanoptera, and Orthoptera (Table 9). In total, Thysanoptera was the most abundant order (36.7%), followed by Hemiptera (25.7%), Diptera (21.0%), Coleoptera (10.5%), Hymenoptera (3.6%), and Araneae (1.4%). The remaining 1.1% of the arthropod community was composed of Psocoptera, Lepidoptera, Neuroptera, and Ephemeroptera.

Table 9. Total number of individuals, richness, diversity and evenness of canopy arthropods

Group	OF1	OF2	OF3	OF4	OF5	CF1	CF2	CF3	CF4	U1
Arachnid										
Araneae	9	6	14	5	10	10	7	5	6	0
Insecta										
Hemiptera	156	159	238	244	76	158	97	105	55	63
Diptera	146	185	146	126	61	94	76	124	96	52
Coleoptera	35	43	52	16	21	25	271	40	32	18
Hymenoptera	31	28	34	14	12	13	23	9	15	10
Lepidoptera	3	2	2	1	2	3	2	2	1	2
Psocoptera	3	5	4	1	0	3	6	0	0	4
Neuroptera	0	1	1	3	0	2	0	0	0	0
Ephemeroptera	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Thysanoptera	653	141	346	124	83	75	34	197	122	155
Orthoptera	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	1036	570	838	535	265	383	516	482	327	304
Richness (R)	8	9	10	10	7	9	8	7	7	7
Shannon diversity	1 1 4 -	1 500	1 /	1.0.16	1 5 6 0	1 501	1.004	1.000	1 405	1.0.44
index (H)	1.147	1.530	1.454	1.346	1.562	1.521	1.384	1.398	1.487	1.341
Pienou's eveness (J)	0.551	0.696	0.631	0.584	0.802	0.692	0.666	0.718	0.764	0.689

community captured in the different olive orchards.

From Figure 6, while 63.0% of the canopy arthropods in OF1 belonged to Thysanoptera, it only accounted for 6.6% of the total individuals captured in CF2. In contrast, CF2 had the highest proportion of Coleoptera (52.5%) among the ten sites.



Figure 6. Abundance of canopy arthropods by taxon captured in the ten olive orchards.

The larger standard deviation indicated a greater variation in the total canopy arthropod abundance in the organic systems, but no significant difference (p = 0.191) was observed between the organic and traditional sites using the Mann-Whitney U test (Table 10). Similar results were found for taxa richness, diversity and evenness.

	Organic			Convent		
	Mean (SD)	Median		Mean (SD)	Median	P-value
Total abundance	648.80 (296.72)	570		427.00 (87.33)	432.5	0.191
Richness (R)	8.80 (1.30)	9		7.75 (0.96)	7.5	0.256
Shannon diversity (H)	1.41 (0.17)	1.45		1.45 (0.07)	1.44	1.000
Pienou's evenness (J)	0.65 (0.10)	0.63		0.71 (0.04)	0.71	0.413

Table 10. Comparison of total abundance, richness, diversity and evenness of canopy

arthropods collected in organic and conventional systems (Mann-Whitney U test, α =0.05).

3.2.4 Human health

3.2.4.1 Pesticide application and residue levels

Since lab analysis of pesticide residues is still underway, in this report we will only assess and compare the qualitative data of pesticide application reported by the farmers (Table 11). Survey results on pesticide application were not available for CF1 and CF2.

OF1, OF2, and OF3 reported no pesticide application in olive cultivation. Instead, these three organic farms adopted several other pest management practices including selecting and growing hedgerows and companion plants (*Dittrichia viscosa* (L.) Greuter) and placing pheromone traps to repel or attract pest species. The other two organic farms, OF4 and OF5, used Spinosad, a natural insecticide produced by the soil bacterium *Saccharopolyspora spinosa*. Glyphosate-based herbicide and the neonicotinoid insecticide thiacloprid were used in CF3. The owner of CF4 acknowledged the usage of chemical pesticides but refused to report the specific types of the pesticides applied to the orchard.

	Pesticide	Daran d Nama	Active		Other pest	
	application	Brand Name	ingredients	Pesticide class	management practices	
OF1					Selecting companion plants	
	X	-	-	-	Pheromone traps	
OF2					Selecting companion plants	
	X	×		-	Pheromone traps	
OF3					Selecting companion plants	
	X	-	-	-	Pheromone traps	
OF4		Success	Curing and	Sur in a serve		
	N	Tracer	Spinosad	Spinosyn	×	
OF5	d	Success	Curing and	Sur in a serve		
	V	Tracer	Spinosad	Spinosyn	×	
CF3	./	Roundup	Glyphosate	Organophosphorus		
	V	Thiacloprid	Thiacloprid	Neonicotinoid	×	
CF4	\checkmark	Refuse to report	-	-	×	

Table 11. Self-report pesticide application in different olive orchards.

3.2.4.2 Oil nutritional quality

Table 12 shows the concentrations of phenolic compounds, i.e. hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and their derivatives extracted from the dominant olive cultivar in Cyprus,

Koroneiki, cultivated on OF1, OF2, CF3, and CF4. Chemical analysis results of the other six sites are underway. Higher concentrations of oleocanthal and oleacein as well as total polyphenols were found in the organic orchards OF1 and OF2.

Table 12. Concentrations of phenolic compounds (hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and their

Concentration (mg/kg)	OF1	OF2	CF3	CF4	
Oleocanthal	1554	1196	58	142	
Oleacein	404	156	35	141	
Oleacanthal+Oleacein	1958	1352	92	282	
Ligstroside-aglycone	21.9	216	21	86	
(Monaldehyde)	218	210	21	80	
Ligstroside-aglycone	270	211	16	477	
(Dialdehyde)	379	311	40	4//	
Oleuropein-aglycone	100	(9	24	192	
(Monaldehyde)	100	68	24	102	
Oleuropein-aglycone	104	14	26	(2)	
(Dialdehyde)	104	14	36	62	
Total tyrosol	0151	1704	104	704	
derivatives	2151	1724	124	/04	
Total hydroxytyrosol	(00)	220	0.5	705	
derivatives	608	238	95	785	
Total polyphenols	2759	1962	219	1490	

derivatives) of organic and conventional olive oil made from Koroneiki olives.

3.3 Discussion

A total of seven indicators covering all three themes of our multi-criteria framework for sustainable olive cultivation have been assessed in our case study in Cyprus. In brief, organic olive orchards display greater benefits for economic viability, soil biodiversity maintenance, and positive human health implications, but substantial variability exists within the same management regime using different farming practices. The significance of these indicators as well as the potential explanations for the observed differences will be detailed in this section.

3.3.1 Economic Viability

Organic farming has long been criticized by its opponents for being less productive and requiring more land to grow sufficient food than conventional systems. According to a previous meta-analysis, a ~20% yield gap has been found between organic and conventional systems, but variation is substantial (Ponti *et al.*, 2011). In this study, the olive fruit and oil yield of organic orchards are comparable to or even slightly higher than those of conventional groves. Given the lower yield of OF1 (~20% lower than OF2-3) and CF4 (lowest among the four sites with 200 trees/ha), irrigation seems to have played a more important role than tree density in determining productivity. One thing to note is that the tree density in both organic and conventional systems in this study is quite low as compared to high-density or super high-density olive orchards (>780 trees/ha) (Díez *et al.*, 2016), which might be due to the physical constraints (e.g. water stress) in the study region and might have thus rendered the yield difference less evident.

For annual gross income, we observe a substantial difference between OF1-3 and the other four sites, mainly attributable to the certified high polyphenol content in the oil produced by OF1-3. Given the fact that we are still collecting the exact management and operational costs of each site, more information is needed to assess the profitability and the overall economic viability of different management systems, but it is very likely that organic olive growing would allow a higher cost/benefit ratio given the higher market price as well as the greater technical efficiency which has been shown in previous studies (Tzouvelekas, *et al.*, 2001).

3.3.2 Ecosystem health

3.3.2.1 Soil Health

(1) Soil fertility

Soil fertility is the ability of soil to sustain agricultural plant growth and stable productivity (FAO, 2015). It has also been suggested as an ecosystem concept which integrates diverse soil functions including nutrient supply (Swift 2000). All crops require a sufficient and balanced supply of plant nutrients from soil. Among these nutrients, nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium are of major importance.

P is the second most limiting element in crop growth on a global scale (Li *et al.*, 2016). Although P is abundant in soil, it can precipitate with Ca when the soil is alkaline, and with Fe and Al when the soil is acidic (Lindsay *et al.*, 1989). Thus, bioavailable P is often lacking, causing a main constraint on agricultural productivity (Dhilon *et al.*, 2017).

Particularly, the bioavailability of phosphorus is related to the sustainability of olive cultivation in two aspects. First, phosphorus nutritional level is positively associated with various productivity parameters of olives, including rate of reproductive bud break, fruitlet persistence, fruit set, total number of fruits, etc. (Erel *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, soil available P is expected to have a direct influence on olive reproductive processes and consequentially production quantity. Second, although P application is very common in olive cultivation in the Mediterranean region, olive trees tend to store soil P when available instead of responding to applied P (Ferreira *et al.*, 2018). Meanwhile, it is estimated that the phosphate rocks, the raw materials for P fertilizers, will be depleted within the next 50 to 100 years if consumed at the current rates (Hawkesford *et al.*, 2012). In addition, the excessive use of P in agriculture can lead to various environmental problems, such as the eutrophication of groundwater (Dodd & Sharpley, 2016). Adequate bioavailability of phosphorus should reduce the usage of P fertilizers and subsequent environmental problems.

For soil K, though K has been found to influence flowering intensity in olive trees (Erel *et al.*, 2008), studies have also shown that olive trees are less likely to be K deficient, and marginal lands in the Mediterranean region are less K poor than expected for olive tree growth (Mouas-Bourbia *et al.*, 2013).

In our study, soil extractable P levels ranged from 0.68 to 13.2 ppm, with most sites below the optimal level of 8 ppm as suggested in Gargouri (2002) for rainfed olive cultivation. OF1 and OF2 had the highest Olsen P levels, followed by CF4 and CF1. CF3 and OF4 had soil P levels lower than the unmanaged orchard. The K levels were less varied among the ten sites. All orchards had an exchangeable soil K level higher or equal to the unmanaged grove as well as the suggested level of 80 ppm, with CF4 the highest and CF3 the lowest. In this respect, soil P management seems to be more essential than soil K to sustainable olive cultivation in the study region.

Several reasons might explain the observed variations in soil fertility among the sites. First, lower tree density, livestock manure application (Fayed, 2010), and permanent ground covers (Pardini *et al.*, 2002) are possible mechanisms to reduce nutrient depletion and maintain high soil fertility in OF1-3. However, flood irrigation may have led to nutrient leaching and thus lower soil available P in OF3. In CF4, intercropping is likely to increase annual ground cover and crop residues in the olive orchard, which may have resulted in higher soil fertility (Bouhafa *et al.*, 2015). However, how resources are allocated as well as the specific effects on soil parameters have not been studied in olive-barley intercropping systems. CF3 has the lowest soil fertility parameters, which might be partly due to the intensive removal of herbaceous species by glyphosate application and tillage as practiced in the orchard. Similar results were found in Ferreira *et al.*, (2013) that the glyphosate and tillage treatments led to lowest pools of soil nitrogen, organic carbon and available P.

(2) Soil nitrogen and organic carbon

Soil nitrogen and soil organic carbon are also important determinants of soil fertility. Besides, soil organic carbon possesses other important functions such as water retention, and is believed to have a high climate change mitigation potential (Sommer & Bossio, 2014).

In our study, we observed a positive correlation between soil nitrogen and soil organic carbon. Nitrogen retention in soil is likely to be facilitated by an active soil microbial community and abundant organic substrate (Barret and Burke, 2000).

Although we did not observe a significant difference in TN and TOC between organic and conventional farms, olive orchards (OF1, CF1, OF2, OF3) that applied no-tillage practices tended to have higher TN and TOC levels than those using or have used (OF5) conventional or reduced tillage, except for CF4. Again, intercropping seems to have improved overall soil chemical properties in CF4.

Therefore, practices that promote ground cover and residues, such as no-tillage, no herbicide application, cover cropping, and intercropping, rather than organic management itself, are likely to be most protective of soil fertility and bring about mitigation co-benefits.

3.3.2.2 Carbon sequestration

To further evaluate the impact of organic management on carbon sequestration, we compared the five sites with 0-4 years of cultivation on the Atsas organic farm. However, we did not observe any significant differences among these sites.

Whether organic agriculture has a beneficial effect on soil organic carbon is a long-debated topic. Leifeld and Fuhrer (2000) argued that the reported advantages of organic management for SOC in field experiments are largely due to higher application of organic fertilizer compared to conventional farming. Metaregression models in Gattinger *et al.* (2012), however, showed that the mean difference in SOC stocks between organic and conventional systems was still significant even the analysis was restricted to zero net input in organic systems

Given our results are cross-sectional and the years of management are relatively short, long-term monitoring is needed to shed more light on the carbon sequestration potential of organic olive cultivation. Also, we only collected soil samples at a depth of 0-20 cm, which might have failed to reflect the possible changes in the stratification of soil organic matter.

3.3.2.3 Biodiversity maintenance

Although the exact shapes of the biodiversity–ecosystem services relationships are still under debate (Duncan *et al.*, 2015), a large body of literature indicate that biodiversity loss will negatively impact ecosystem functions and services (Haines-Young & Potschin-Young, 2010). In agricultural systems, biodiversity has complex interactions with agricultural management and production (Swift & Anderson, 1994). For example, soil biodiversity is associated with soil health and important soil ecosystem functioning. The presence of diverse soil microbiota and soil fauna including Protoctista, Nematodes and Enchytraeidae, and Collembola and ants, have been reported to improve crop production through various mechanisms such as positive effects on soil physical structure, enhanced interaction between microorganisms and root exudates, greater protection against pests and diseases, etc. (Lavelle *et al.*, 2006). However, the current intensification of olive cultivation in the Mediterranean region has led to the degradation of fauna and flora diversity in olive orchards (Allen *et al.*, 2006), highlighting the necessity of monitoring and preserving agrobiodiversity to maintain biodiversity-linked agroecosystem services and achieve sustainability of production.

Given budgetary constraints, we were unable to characterize the soil microbiota of our study sites since it required gene sequencing. However, we were able to monitor soil arthropods and canopy arthropods using pitfall and sticky traps, which were simple, economic and could be easily deployed by farmers in their own fields.

As mentioned earlier, soil arthropod biodiversity is linked to important ecological functions such as decomposition of organic matter and biological control of olive pests. Among the edaphic arthropods, ants are the most prominent indicators of agroecosystems conditions and are easy to monitor (Peck *et al.*, 1998). Ants have also been found to be the major predators of the olive fruit fly and olive moth *Prays oleae*, followed by Heteroptera and Coleoptera. (Morris *et al.*, 1999)

Our results added to the evidence that agricultural management practices can affect the composition and diversity of soil arthropod community (Diekotter *et al.*, 2010). First, although we were unable to perform statistical tests of the arthropod diversity of the ten sites, we could still observe some clear distinctions from their abundance profiles as shown in Table and Fig. In our study, U1 was disproportionately dominated by ants (Formicidae), which was consistent with previous research that ants tend to dominate soil arthropod communities in less disturbed orchards (Morris & Campos, 1999). There was also some evidence indicating that tillage could affect ant communities since OF4 (tilled) had a disproportionately low ant abundance as compared to other organically managed olive orchards. Similar results were found in the vineyards (Sharley et al., 2008) that the abundance of several genera of Formicidae was reduced by tillage. Tillage may affect ground-dwelling invertebrates by influencing the litter layer, microclimate, and other habitat characteristics. This effect of tillage was less clear in conventional orchards since the ant abundance and diversity might also be affected by application of different pesticides (Sonoda et al., 2011). For Collembola, another important order involved in the decomposition of soil organic matter, olive orchards that had a higher abundance and proportion of Collembola (i.e. OF4, OF3, OF5, and CF3) were those that had flood irrigation either during the early growing periods or throughout the growing season. This could partly be explained by the fact that Collembola tend to inhabit damper environments (Verhoef & Selm, 1983). Tillage conditions do not seem to have much influence on Collembola abundance although it has been reported to affect collembolan abundances and assemblage structures in other studies (Brennan et al., 2005). The intercropping system CF4, also appeared to have a quite different soil arthropod community profile that it had a higher abundance of Coleoptera. Intercropping may modify arthropod community by providing different habitats and predator-prey dynamics (Song et al., 2010). However, no previous research has looked into the effects of intercropping on arthropod communities in olive orchards. A possible explanation for the high abundance of Coleoptera in CF4 might be the existence of ground beetles (Carabidae) in the intercropped barley as predators of

cereal aphids (Scheller, 1984).

Second, organic systems had a significantly higher total abundance of soil arthropods than conventional orchards, although no significance was found in the abundance of any of the individual taxa or the taxa richness, Shannon diversity, or evenness between the two groups. This is consistent with previous research in Greece that higher number of total catches of soil arthropods appeared in the organic olive orchards, but no constant pattern or significant differences in diversity was observed between management systems (Gkisakis *et al.*, 2014). These results to some degree imply the potential adverse effects of pesticide application and intensive management on soil arthropod community in conventional olive orchards, but larger sample size and more specific measurements of potential explanatory variables (e.g. pesticide type and frequency) are needed to investigate the variability within organic and conventional systems.

The canopy of olive trees also hosts important pest control agents such as predators and parasitoids (Ruano *et al.*, 2004). In our study, we observed a greater variability in canopy arthropods composition in the organic systems as compared to soil arthropods as well as to conventional systems. However, the Mann- Whitney U test revealed no significant differences in total abundance, taxa richness, diversity, and evenness between the organic and conventional sites. Similar results were reported by Gkisakis *et al.*(2018) that no significant differences in canopy arthropods diversity were found between organic and conventional systems, due to high variability of farming practices within the same management system.

Again, there are several important factors that have limited our ability to conduct further analysis on biodiversity maintenance. First, with the small sample size (n=10), it was inappropriate to conduct multivariate analysis to evaluate the effect of each individual farming practice on taxa abundance or diversity. Second, due to technical limitations, we were only able to identify the arthropods to the level of order, which made it difficult to decompose the arthropod communities into functional groups, although the functional group approach might be a meaningful, complementary biodiversity measure (Mouchet et al., 2010). Third, we have neglected some important explanatory variables in our investigation. For example, we assumed similar climate conditions among the ten sites given the same sampling date as well as their proximity to each other. However, the microclimate of arthropod habitats within each olive orchard might differ substantially due to different farming practices, canopy cover, ground cover, landscape heterogeneity, etc. Gkisakis et al. (2018) found that in addition to farming practices, abiotic factors like temperature, humidity, and landscape were all significant predictors shaping the canopy arthropod community in olive orchards. Fourth, our field sampling was conducted in early July, which failed to include seasonal changes of arthropod communities in our analysis.

3.3.3 Human health

3.3.3.1 Pesticide application and residue levels

The restricted use of synthetic chemicals including pesticides is the most important distinction between organic and nonorganic production systems. While

conventional agriculture relies heavily on synthetic pesticides to control pest organisms, only certain chemicals, such as copper sulfate (fungicide), potassium bicarbonate (fungicide), and naturally derived pyrethrin (insecticide), are approved by the European Commission of the European Union (EU) for plant protection in organic agriculture after an extensive evaluation including a range of toxicological tests in animals (EU, 2008). In addition to direct application of active substances, organic production systems also adopt indirect prevention means such as rotation, intercropping, choices of resistant varieties, and biological control, to alter the temporal and spatial dynamics of pest populations (Wyss *et al.*, 2005). In their field enclosure experiments, Crowder *et al.* (2010) suggested that, organic farms exerted the strongest pest control by promoting even communities of natural enemy groups (e.g. predators and pathogens).

In our study, organic sites OF1, OF2, OF3 used companion plants *Dittrichia viscosa* (L.) Greuter (Asteraceae) and pheromone traps to control pest populations in the orchard. *D. viscosa* is a widely adaptive perennial species in the Mediterranean region (Parolin *et al.*, 2014). It has been increasingly employed in the Mediterranean agroecosystems since it hosts efficient predators such as species in the *Macrolophus* genus and beneficial insects which can control the olive fruit fly (Ingegno *et al.*, 2011). Pheromone traps use sex pheromones or aggregating pheromones to lure insects. While the effectiveness of both methods remains to be examined, they are unlikely to cause adverse health impacts on both farm workers and consumers.

The other two organic farms, OF4 and OF5, used spinosad, a mixture of

chemical compounds in the spinosyn family derived by fermentation from the soil bacterium *Saccharopolyspora spinosa*. Spinosad is considered a natural product and is approved in organic agriculture by numerous countries (Hertlein *et al.*, 2011). The spinosoid insecticides act on the insect nervous systems by primarily targeting binding sites on nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) with a secondary effect on γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors (Scott, 2008). This novel mode of action is distinct from other insecticides, and spinosad has not so far shown to cause any crossresistance (Sparks *et al.*, 2001).

Spinosad has been suggested as a high-efficacy, broad- spectrum pesticide with low ecotoxicity and mammalian toxicity. Although pest predators and parasitoids generally suffer insignificant sub-lethal effects following spinosad application, all previous studies agree that spinosad degrades rapidly (3-7 days) in the field and regard it as one of the most judicious insecticide (Williams *et al.*, 2001).

With regards to human health, no evidence suggests that spinosad is a cancercausing agent. even when tested in laboratory animals at very high doses (Bunch *et al.*, 2014). For non-cancer effects, only lower body weights and effects to some organs were observed at the highest doses (0.1% spinosad for 1 year) in rats (Yano *et al.*, 2002). In pregnant rats, abnormal vaginal bleeding and increased risks of dystocia and abortions were also observed at the highest doses tested (100mg/kg/day) (Hanley *et al.*, 2002). No treatment-related effects occurred in their offspring.

Given the low human toxicity of spinosad as well as a MRL of 0.02 mg/kg (EU Pesticides database), it is unlikely that individuals would be exposed to high levels of

spinosad comparable to those in the animal tests. At the same time, spinosad is absorbed poorly through dermal contact. Therefore, we suggest the application of spinosad in olive cultivation has negligible impacts on farm workers' and consumers' health.

In the conventional farm CF3, two types of pesticides were applied to the olive orchard. Thiacloprid is an insecticide of the neonicotinoid class which acts on the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors of the insects, primarily aphids and whiteflies, and disrupt their nervous system (Tomizawa & Casida, 2000).

The impacts of thiacloprid on bees have been widely debated in the last few years. A large number of studies show that chronic exposure of honey bees (*Apis mellifera* carnica) to thiacloprid in the field at a sublethal concentration can impair various functions including foraging behavior, homing success, navigation performance, social interactions, etc. (Tison *et al.*, 2016; Forfert & Moritz, 2017). In January 2020, the European Commission (EC) decided not to renew approval of Thiacloprid for outdoor use.

Although neonicotinoids are considered less toxic to humans as compared to older insecticides such as organophosphates, emerging evidence indicates that neonicotinoids may also cause severe neurological and developmental toxicity in humans (Cimino *et al.*, 2017). Chronic neonic exposure has been found to be associated with elevated risks of memory loss and finger tremor (Marfo *et al.*, 2015), tetralogy of Fallot (Carmichael *et al.*, 2014), and anencephaly (Yang *et al.*, 2014). As in the case of thiacloprid, thiacloprid is classified and labeled as carcinogen category

2 (suspected of causing cancer) and toxic for reproduction category 1B by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) based on animal studies (EFSA, 2019). Neoplasia occurred in both rats (2.5 mg/kg/ day for 2 years) and mice (11 mg/kg/day for 18 months) although the mode of action of tumor formation is not entirely clear. Acute human thiacloprid poisoning and death was also reported from deliberate ingestion in a 23-year-old man (Vinod *et al.*, 2014).

However, given the rapid degradation and generally low residue levels of thiacloprid in diet, EFSA suggests that the intended uses of thiacloprid on olive are unlikely to cause health relevant outcomes (EFSA, 2009). No exposure assessment and epidemiological studies have been conducted on the impacts of thiacloprid on farm workers.

In addition to thiacloprid, glyphosate was also applied in CF3 for weeding. Although limited evidence indicates that glyphosate causes cancer in human, there is sufficient evidence for the carcinogenicity of glyphosate in experimental animals (IARC, 2015). The cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of glyphosate has been further proven in a series of studies carried out in exposed humans, in human cells *in vitro*, and in other mammals both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Glyphosate can induce DNA strand breaks in various cell types, and its metabolite, AMPA, can produce chromosomal aberrations in human lymphocytes (Manãs *et al.*, 2009; Carlos *et al.*, 2014).

For epidemiological studies, Paz-y-Miño *et al.* (2011) found that individuals exposed to the glyphosate sprayed on the border between Ecuador and Colombia showed significantly higher DNA migration levels than the controls. Previous studies have also associated glyphosate with several cancers, including Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and breast cancer. Thongprakaisang *et al.* (2013) showed that glyphosate could exert proliferative effects on hormone-dependent growth of human breast cancer cell T47D at low concentrations of 10⁻¹² to 10⁻⁶M via estrogen receptors. There was also an additive estrogenic effect between glyphosate and genistein, a phytoestrogen in soybeans.

Given the reduced pesticide use intensity and lower pesticide toxicity, the organic orchards OF1-5 seem to be more protective of human health as compared to the conventional groves. However, even with the measurements of pesticide residue levels on olive fruit and in olive oil, it is difficult to assess the risk for farm workers and consumers posed by the pesticide application in olive cultivation.

First, it is possible that organic farmers and rural populations are exposed to synthetic pesticides through other pathways such as spray drift from neighboring fields. Unapproved pesticides may also contaminate organic produce through spray drift, fraudulent use, and contamination during transport, storage, packaging, etc. (Mie *et al.*, 2017).

Second, the exposure levels of farm workers and their health relevance in different farming systems are still arbitrary. Very few studies have assessed and compared pesticide exposure of organic and conventional farmers. To the best of our knowledge, only one published study conducted in Portugal has compared pesticide exposure in organic and conventional agricultural workers (Costa *et al.*, 2014). The results showed significantly lower concentrations of urinary organophosphates and

carbamates in organic farmers than in conventional farmers, and confirmed the increased presence of DNA damage in farmers exposed to pesticides. No significant differences in urinary pyrethroids or thioethers concentrations or any explicit health outcomes have been found.

Third, no information is available for the consumers' daily intake levels of the olive oils produced by the orchards in our study. There is also little evidence for the long-term health effects of low-level dietary exposure to different pesticides.

3.3.3.2 Oil nutritional quality

Perceived nutritional benefits are one of the primary reasons for organic consumers to pay generally higher prices for food products (Williams 2007). However, existing systematic reviews and meta-analysis have presented mixed results that are largely inconsistent with these perceptions. Growth chamber studies (Mengel *et al.*, 1981) and controlled field experiments provide evidence that some management practices such as fertilization and crop rotation can exert influence on crop development and nutritional quality. (Wang *et al.*, 2007). For other agronomic measures such as pesticide use, little is known about their effects on crop nutrition (Brandt *et al.*, 2001). In the meantime, crop nutrient composition is also greatly affected by environmental factors such as soil conditions, growing seasons, weather and climatic variables, crop cultivars, postharvest storage, etc. (Hornick *et al.*, 1992). Therefore, whether organic produce contain higher or lower levels of certain nutrients than conventional ones varies depending on the specific nutrients, crop species and cultivars, and other environmental conditions. In addition, how these nutritional differences between organic and conventional foods are relevant for human health is inadequately explored.

In our study, the organic farms OF1 and OF2 had higher concentrations of oleocanthal and oleacein as well as total polyphenols than the conventional farms CF3 and CF4. Polyphenols are "plant secondary metabolites derived exclusively from the shikimate derived phenylpropanoid and/or the polyketide pathway(s), featuring more than one phenolic ring and being devoid of any nitrogen-based functional group in their most basic structural expression" (Quideau *et al.*, 2011). According to the carbon/nitrogen (C/N) balance theory, the plant will first manufacture compounds such as proteins and secondary metabolites including alkaloids, glucosinolates, and non-protein amino acids which contain high nitrogen content. When available nitrogen is a limiting factor, carbon-containing compounds such as starch and cellulose, as well as non-nitrogen-containing secondary metabolites including *et al.*, 1998).

In organic agriculture, the use of external inputs including mineral nitrogen (N) fertilizers is restricted. The maximum annual manure application rate regulated by EU is 170 kg N per hectare (EU, 2007). In contrast, there is no limit on N input in conventional agricultural systems, and mineral fertilizers such as ammonium nitrate and urea are dominant in nitrogen fertilization.

Therefore, the higher concentrations of polyphenols in OF1 and OF2 might be partly due to the low input of nitrogen in organic systems, as opposed to the regular

application of synthetic fertilizers in CF3 and CF4. Significantly higher amounts of phenolic compounds have also been found across a variety of organically grown crop species such as grapes, pecan, etc. (Mulero *et al.* 2010; Malik *et al.* 2009; López-Yerena *et al.* 2019). A decline in hydroxytyrosol concentration in EVOO was also reported when olive trees were applied with N, P, K fertilizers (Dabbaghi *et al.* 2019). Another possible explanation for the higher polyphenol concentrations in OF1 and OF2 might be the lower tree density which could have affected olive growth cycle and led to increased polyphenol levels (Garrido *et al.* 2016). However, the effect of tree density on phenolic compounds in olives requires further research.

When comparing OF1 and OF2, between which the only difference was the irrigation status, higher concentrations of phenolic compounds were detected in the olive oil from OF1 (no irrigation). Water stress has been reported to affect the physiological parameters of olive trees and induce the accumulation of phenolic compounds as antioxidants in olive fruit and leaf, especially oleuropein (Petridis *et al.* 2012). Meanwhile, the severity of water stress may exceed the tolerant capacity of olive trees and lead to increased oxidative stress and adverse effects on oil quality. In our study region, no irrigation did not seem to have a negative impact on polyphenol concentration. In addition, Artajo *et al.* (2006) indicates that in the samples from the non-irrigated trees, a higher proportion of the polyphenols were partitioned into the pomace. In contrast, in the samples from the irrigated trees, most of the phenolic compounds were partitioned into in the wastewater. Therefore, optimal water stress conditions not only increase phenolic compounds during the tree development, but

also increase the phenolic content during the extraction process.

With regards to human health, clinical and epidemiological data have provided support to the potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of polyphenols present in virgin olive oil. Oleuropein is the most prevalent polyphenol present in olives. Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments have revealed its antioxidant potential of counteracting low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation (Visioli & Galli, 1994; Visioli *et al.*, 2000). Evidence has also indicated that oleuropein has the ability to scavenge hypochlorous acid and nitric oxide (Visioli *et al.*, 1998). Several studies (Puel *et al.*, 2011; Khalatbary & Zarrinjoei, 2012) have also documented the anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer effects of oleuropein (Elamin *et al.*, 2013; Hassan *et al.*, 2013).

According to the Commission Regulation No. 432/2012 of the European Union (EU, 2012), olive oil is considered as protective of blood lipids from oxidative stress if it contains > 5 mg of hydroxytyrosol and its derivatives per 20 g of oil. In our study, the oil samples from OF1 (55.2 mg), OF2 (39.2 mg), and CF4 (29.8 mg) meet this criterion, but the organic oil samples had the highest amount.

It should be noted that we were only able to evaluate four oil samples in this report. At the same time, the phenolic profile of olive oil is also largely dependent on genotype (Vinha *et al.*, 2004). In addition, we have not evaluated the impacts on other aspects of the oil nutritional quality such as fatty acid composition. The higher concentrations of phenolic compounds in organic olive oil as reported in this study may not constitute a sufficient basis for drawing conclusions on the positive effects of organic farming with regards to human health.

4. Recommendations and limitations

In this study, we have developed a multi-criteria assessment framework for sustainable olive cultivation which is comprehensive, relevant, and relatively simple to implement. Based on our case study in Cyprus, we recommend organic olive growing with conservation practices (e.g. no-till, intercropping, cover cropping, etc.) and optimal irrigation decisions for improved economic, environmental, and human health outcomes. However, farmers and policy-makers may have to make contextspecific trade-offs among the different indicators. Future applications of our framework in other olive cultivation systems is needed to test its sensitivity and robustness of sustainability assessment.

As mentioned earlier, the small sample size, cross-sectional measurements, and incomplete laboratory results have limited our ability to perform further analysis. For future studies, long-term monitoring of a larger number of olive orchards as well as measurements of other important factors (e.g. micro-climates, landscape heterogeneity, soil microbial community, etc.) are needed to disentangle the relative impacts of different farming practices and management systems on each sustainability indicator.

5. Conclusion

This study has adopted an integrated approach and proposed a multi-criteria framework with ten indicators for the sustainability assessment of olive cultivation under semi-arid climate. The case study in Cyprus has not only provided important empirical data for the potential benefits of organic olive cultivation, but also illustrated the great variability in sustainability performance within the same management system. In general, organic olive orchards possess higher abundance of soil arthropods, apply fewer synthetic chemicals of health concerns, and produce olive oils with higher concentrations of phenolic compounds, indicating a synergy between ecosystem and human health which has not been adequately addressed in previous studies. Organic olive growing is also likely to be more profitable given the similar oil yield but higher market price as compared to conventional counterparts. Our results also suggest that farming practices including no-till, intercropping, and cover cropping, seem to play a more essential role than the management systems on the soil fertility parameters and carbon sequestration capability in olive orchards. In addition, a moderate reduction in irrigation water also helps to enhance phenolic content in olive oil. These two findings highlight the potential climate co-benefits of sustainable agriculture as it may increase soil carbon stocks and improve water-use efficiency while ensuring other economic, environmental, and human health benefits. To sum up, we suggest organic olive cultivation using conservation practices and optimal irrigation decisions for sustainable agricultural development in the semi-arid areas in the Mediterranean Basin.

References

- Abdi, H. & Williams L.J. (2010) Honestly significant difference (HSD) test. N.J. Salkind, D.M. Dougherty, B. Frey (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Research Design, Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA, USA pp. 583-585
- Abdourahime, H., Anastassiadou, M., Arena, M., Auteri, D., Barmaz, S., Brancato, A., ... Villamar-Bouza, L. (2019). Peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance thiacloprid. *EFSA Journal*, 17(3), e05595. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5595
- Alavanja, M. C. R., Ross, M. K., & Bonner, M. R. (2013). Increased cancer burden among pesticide applicators and others due to pesticide exposure. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 63(2), 120– 142. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21170
- Allen, H., Randall, R., Amable, G., & Devereux, B. (2006). The impact of changing olive cultivation practices on the ground flora of olive groves in the Messara and Psiloritis regions, Crete, Greece. *Land Degradation & Development*, 17, 249–273. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.716
- Alonso, A. D., & Krajsic, V. (2013). Food heritage down under: olive growers as Mediterranean 'food ambassadors.' Journal of Heritage Tourism, 8(2–3), 158–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743873X.2013.767807
- Arora, N. K. (2018). Agricultural sustainability and food security. *Environmental Sustainability*, 1(3), 217–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42398-018-00032-2
- Artajo, L.-S., Romero, M.-P., Tovar, M.-J., & Motilva, M.-J. (2006). Effect of irrigation applied to olive trees (Olea europaea L.) on phenolic compound transfer during olive oil extraction. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 108(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.200500227
- Auerswald, K., Kainz, M., & Fiener, P. (2003). Soil erosion potential of organic versus conventional farming evaluated by USLE modelling of cropping statistics for agricultural districts in Bavaria. *Soil Use and Management*, 19(4), 305–311. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-2743.2003.tb00320.x
- Barrett, J. E., & Burke, I. C. (2000). Potential nitrogen immobilization in grassland soils across a soil organic matter gradient. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 32(11), 1707–1716. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00089-4
- Bach-Faig, A., Berry, E. M., Lairon, D., Reguant, J., Trichopoulou, A., Dernini, S., ... Serra-Majem, L. (2011). Mediterranean diet pyramid today. Science and cultural updates. Public Health Nutrition, 14(12A), 2274–2284. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980011002515
- Beus, C. E., & Dunlap, R. E. (2010). Conventional versus Alternative Agriculture: The Paradigmatic Roots of the Debate*. *Rural Sociology*, 55(4), 590–616. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1549-0831.1990.tb00699.x
- Bouhafa, K., Moughli, L., Daoui, K., Douaik, A., & Taarabt, Y. (2015). Soil Properties at Different Distances of Intercropping in Three Olive Orchards in Morocco. *International Journal of Plant & Soil Science*, 7, 238–245. https://doi.org/10.9734/IJPSS/2015/16807
- Bouyoucos, G. (1936). Directions for making mechanical analyses of soils by the hydrometer method. *Soil Science*, *42*, 225–230. https://doi.org/10.1097/00010694-193609000-00007
- Brandt, K., & Mølgaard, J. P. (2001). Organic agriculture: does it enhance or reduce the nutritional value of plant foods? *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 81(9), 924–931. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.903

- Brennan, A., Fortune, T., & Bolger, T. (2006). Collembola abundances and assemblage structures in conventionally tilled and conservation tillage arable systems. *Pedobiologia*, 50(2), 135–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2005.09.004
- Bunch, T. R., Bond, C., Buhl, K. & Stone, D. (2014). Spinosad General Fact Sheet; National Pesticide Information Center, Oregon State University Extension Services. http://npic.orst.edu/factsheets/spinosadgen.html
- Cândido, G., Nóbrega, M., Figueiredo, M., & Maior, M. (2015). Sustainability assessment of agroecological production units: a comparative study of IDEA and MEMIS methods. *Ambiente & Sociedade*, *18*, 99–120.
- Cecchi, A., Rovedatti, M. G., Sabino, G., & Magnarelli, G. G. (2012). Environmental exposure to organophosphate pesticides: Assessment of endocrine disruption and hepatotoxicity in pregnant women. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 80, 280–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.03.008
- Cheeseman, J. (2016). Chapter 7 Food Security in the Face of Salinity, Drought, Climate Change, and Population Growth. In M. A. Khan, M. Ozturk, B. Gul, & M. Z. Ahmed (Eds.), Halophytes for Food Security in Dry Lands (pp. 111–123). San Diego: Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801854-5.00007-8
- Cimino Andria M., Boyles Abee L., Thayer Kristina A., & Perry Melissa J. (2017a). Effects of Neonicotinoid Pesticide Exposure on Human Health: A Systematic Review. Environmental Health Perspectives, 125(2), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP515
- Costa, C., García-Lestón, J., Costa, S., Coelho, P., Silva, S., Pingarilho, M., ... Teixeira, J. P. (2014). Is organic farming safer to farmers' health? A comparison between organic and traditional farming. *Toxicology Letters*, 230(2), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.02.011
- Covas, M.-I., Konstantinidou, V., & Fitó, M. (2009). Olive Oil and Cardiovascular Health. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology, 54(6), 477–482. https://doi.org/10.1097/FJC.0b013e3181c5e7fd
- Crowder, D. W., Northfield, T. D., Strand, M. R., & Snyder, W. E. (2010). Organic agriculture promotes evenness and natural pest control. *Nature*, *466*(7302), 109–112. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09183
- Cunha, S. C., Lehotay, S. J., Mastovska, K., Fernandes, J. O., Beatriz, M., & Oliveira, P. P. (2007). Evaluation of the QuEChERS sample preparation approach for the analysis of pesticide residues in olives. *Journal of Separation Science*, 30(4), 620–632. https://doi.org/10.1002/jssc.200600410
- Dabbaghi, O., Tekaya, M., Flamini, G., Zouari, I., El-Gharbi, S., M'barki, N., ... Mechri, B. (2019).
 Modification of Phenolic Compounds and Volatile Profiles of Chemlali Variety Olive Oil in
 Response to Foliar Biofertilization. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, *96*(5), 585–593. https://doi.org/10.1002/aocs.12201
- de Olde, E. M., Oudshoorn, F. W., Sørensen, C. A. G., Bokkers, E. A. M., & de Boer, I. J. M. (2016). Assessing sustainability at farm-level: Lessons learned from a comparison of tools in practice. *Ecological Indicators*, 66, 391–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.01.047
- Dhillon, J., Torres, G., Driver, E., Figueiredo, B., & Raun, W. R. (2017). World Phosphorus Use Efficiency in Cereal Crops. Agronomy Journal, 109(4), 1670–1677. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2016.08.0483
- Diekötter, T., Wamser, S., Wolters, V., & Birkhofer, K. (2010). Landscape and management effects on structure and function of soil arthropod communities in winter wheat. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 137(1), 108–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2010.01.008

- Díez, C. M., Moral, J., Cabello, D., Morello, P., Rallo, L., & Barranco, D. (2016). Cultivar and Tree Density As Key Factors in the Long-Term Performance of Super High-Density Olive Orchards. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01226
- Dodd, R. J., & Sharpley, A. N. (2016). Conservation practice effectiveness and adoption: unintended consequences and implications for sustainable phosphorus management. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 104(3), 373–392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-015-9748-8
- Duncan, C., Thompson, J. R., & Pettorelli, N. (2015). The quest for a mechanistic understanding of biodiversity–ecosystem services relationships. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1817), 20151348. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1348
- European Food Safety Authority. (2009). Modification of the existing MRLs for thiacloprid in table olives, olives for oil production, poppy seeds and various root vegetables on request. EFSA Journal, 7(12):1410. https://doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1410. Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu
- Elamin, M. H., Daghestani, M. H., Omer, S. A., Elobeid, M. A., Virk, P., Al-Olayan, E. M., ... Aboussekhra, A. (2013). Olive oil oleuropein has anti-breast cancer properties with higher efficiency on ER-negative cells. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *53*, 310–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2012.12.009
- Erel, R., Yermiyahu, U., Yasuor, H., Cohen Chamus, D., Schwartz, A., Ben-Gal, A., & Dag, A. (2016). Phosphorous Nutritional Level, Carbohydrate Reserves and Flower Quality in Olives. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167591
- Erel, R., Dag, A., Ben-Gal, A., Schwartz, A., & Yermiyahu, U. (2008). Flowering and Fruit Set of Olive Trees in Response to Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Potassium. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 133(5), 639–647. https://doi.org/10.21273/JASHS.133.5.639
- Estruch, R., Ros, E., Salas-Salvadó, J., Covas, M.-I., Corella, D., Arós, F., … Martínez-González, M. A. (2013). Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease with a Mediterranean Diet. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 368(14), 1279–1290. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1200303
- European Union. (2007) Council Regulation No 834/2007 of 28 June 2007 on organic production and labelling of organic products and repealing Regulation (EEC) No 2092/91. (No. 834/2007)
- European Union. (2008) Commission Regulation (EC) No 889/2008 of 5 September 2008 laying down detailed rules for the implementation of Council Regulation (EC) No 834/2007 on organic production and labelling of organic products with regard to organic production, labelling and control. (No. 889/2008)
- European Union. Commission Regulation (EC) No 432/2012 of 16 May 2012 establishing a list of permitted health claims made on foods, other than those referring to the reduction of disease risk and to children's development and health. (No. 432/2012)
- FAO. (1998). The State of Food and Agriculture. Rome, Italy.
- FAO. (2018). SDG Indicator 2.4.1. Proportion of Agricultural Area under Productive and Sustainable Agriculture. Methodological Note. Rome, Italy.
- FAO and ITPS. (2015). Status of the World's Soil Resources (SWSR) Main Report. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and Intergovernmental Technical Panel on Soils, Rome, Italy.
- Fayed, T. A. (2010). Response of four olive cultivars to common organic manures in Libya. American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, 8(3), 275–291.
- Ferreira, I. Q., Arrobas, M., Claro, A. M., & Rodrigues, M. A. (2013). Soil management in rainfed olive orchards may result in conflicting effects on olive production and soil fertility. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 11(2), 472–480. https://doi.org/10.5424/sjar/2013112-3501

- Ferreira, Isabel Q., Rodrigues, M. Â., Moutinho-Pereira, J. M., Correia, C. M., & Arrobas, M. (2018). Olive tree response to applied phosphorus in field and pot experiments. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 234, 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2018.02.050
- Forfert, N., & Moritz, R. F. A. (2017). Thiacloprid alters social interactions among honey bee workers (Apis mellifera). *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 56(4), 467–474. https://doi.org/10.1080/00218839.2017.1332542
- Fraga, H., Pinto, J. G., Viola, F., & Santos, J. A. (2020). Climate change projections for olive yields in the Mediterranean Basin. *International Journal of Climatology*, 40(2), 769–781. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6237
- García-Ruiz, J. M., López-Moreno, J. I., Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Lasanta–Martínez, T., & Beguería, S. (2011). Mediterranean water resources in a global change scenario. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 105(3), 121–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2011.01.006
- Garrido, I., Uriarte, D., Hernández, M., Llerena, J. L., Valdés, M. E., & Espinosa, F. (2016). The Evolution of Total Phenolic Compounds and Antioxidant Activities during Ripening of Grapes (Vitis vinifera L., cv. Tempranillo) Grown in Semiarid Region: Effects of Cluster Thinning and Water Deficit. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *17*(11), 1923. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17111923
- Gattinger, A., Muller, A., Haeni, M., Skinner, C., Fließbach, A., Buchmann, N., ... Niggli, U. (2013). Reply to Leifeld et al.: Enhanced top soil carbon stocks under organic farming is not equated with climate change mitigation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(11), E985– E985. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1221886110
- Gennari, P., & Navarro, D. (2020). The Challenge of Measuring Agricultural Sustainability in All Its Dimensions. https://doi.org/10.20900/jsr20190013
- Giannakopoulos, C., Hadjinicolaou, P., Kostopoulou, E., Varotsos, K., & Zerefos, C. (2010). Precipitation and temperature regime over Cyprus as a result of global climate change. *Advances in Geosciences*, 23, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.5194/adgeo-23-17-2010
- Gill, C. I. R., Boyd, A., McDermott, E., McCann, M., Servili, M., Selvaggini, R., ... Rowland, I. (2005). Potential anti-cancer effects of virgin olive oil phenolson colorectal carcinogenesis models in vitro. *International Journal of Cancer*, 117(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.21083
- Giorgi, F., & Lionello, P. (2008). Climate change projections for the Mediterranean region. *Global and Planetary Change*, *63*(2), 90–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2007.09.005
- Gkisakis, V. D., Kollaros, D., Bàrberi, P., Livieratos, I. C., & Kabourakis, E. M. (2015). Soil Arthropod Diversity in Organic, Integrated, and Conventional Olive Orchards and Different Agroecological Zones in Crete, Greece. Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems, 39(3), 276–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683565.2014.967440
- Gkisakis, Vassilios D., Bàrberi, P., & Kabourakis, E. M. (2018). Olive canopy arthropods under organic, integrated, and conventional management. The effect of farming practices, climate and landscape. Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems, 42(8), 843–858. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683565.2018.1469066
- Gokten, S., & Gokten, P. O. (2018). Sustainability Assessment and Reporting. BoD Books on Demand.
- Gomiero, T., Pimentel, D., & Paoletti, M. G. (2011). Environmental Impact of Different Agricultural Management Practices: Conventional vs. Organic Agriculture. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 30(1–2), 95–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2011.554355

- Haines-Young, R., & Potschin-Young, M. (2010). The links between biodiversity, ecosystem service and human well-being. In *Ecosystem Ecology: A New Synthesis* (pp. 110–139). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511750458.007
- Hald, P. M. (1947). The flame photometer for the measurement of sodium and potassium in biological materials. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 167, 499–510. Retrieved from https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/19471400094
- Hani, F., Braga, F., Stampfli, A., Keller, T., Fischer, M., & Porsche, H. (2003). RISE, a Tool for Holistic Sustainability Assessment at the Farm Level. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, 06.
- Hanley, T. R., Breslin, W. J., Quast, J. F., & Carney, E. W. (2002). Evaluation of Spinosad in a Two-Generation Dietary Reproduction Study Using Sprague-Dawley Rats. *Toxicological Sciences*, 67(1), 144–152. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/67.1.144
- Hansen, J. W. (1996). Is agricultural sustainability a useful concept? *Agricultural Systems*, 50(2), 117–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-521X(95)00011-S
- Hansen, L., Noe, E., & Højring, K. (2006). Nature and Nature Values in Organic Agriculture. An Analysis of Contested Concepts and Values Among Different Actors in Organic Farming. *Journal* of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 19(2), 147–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10806-005-1804-y
- Harrington, L. (1992). Measuring sustainability: Issues and alternatives. *Journal for Farming Systems Research-Extension*, *3*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3362/9781780445304.001
- Hassan, Z. K., Elamin, M. H., Omer, S. A., Daghestani, M. H., Al-Olayan, E. S., Elobeid, M. A., & Virk, P. (2013). Oleuropein Induces Apoptosis Via the p53 Pathway in Breast Cancer Cells. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 14(11), 6739–6742. https://doi.org/10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.11.6739
- Haukioja, E., Ossipov, V., Koricheva, J., Honkanen, T., Larsson, S., & Lempa, K. (1998). Biosynthetic origin of carbon-based secondary compounds: cause of variable responses of woody plants to fertilization? *CHEMOECOLOGY*, 8(3), 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s000490050018
- Hawkesford, M., Horst, W., Kichey, T., Lambers, H., Schjoerring, J., Møller, I. S., & White, P. (2012). Chapter 6 - Functions of Macronutrients. In P. Marschner (Ed.), *Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants (Third Edition)* (pp. 135–189). San Diego: Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384905-2.00006-6
- Hertlein, M. B., Thompson, G. D., Subramanyam, B., & Athanassiou, C. G. (2011). Spinosad: A new natural product for stored grain protection. *Journal of Stored Products Research*, 47(3), 131–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jspr.2011.01.004
- Hildebrand, P. E. (1990). Agronomy's Role in Sustainable Agriculture: Integrated Farming Systems. *Journal of Production Agriculture*, 3(3), 285–288. https://doi.org/10.2134/jpa1990.0285
- Hornick, S. B. (1992). Factors affecting the nutritional quality of crops. *American Journal of Alternative Agriculture*, 7(1–2), 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0889189300004471
- Horrigan Leo, Lawrence Robert S, & Walker Polly. (2002). How sustainable agriculture can address the environmental and human health harms of industrial agriculture. Environmental Health Perspectives, 110(5), 445–456. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.02110445
- Ingegno, B. L., Pansa, M. G., & Tavella, L. (2011). Plant preference in the zoophytophagous generalist predator Macrolophus pygmaeus (Heteroptera: Miridae). *Biological Control*, 58(3), 174–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2011.06.003

- Karkoula, E., Skantzari, A., Melliou, E., & Magiatis, P. (2012). Direct Measurement of Oleocanthal and Oleacein Levels in Olive Oil by Quantitative 1H NMR. Establishment of a New Index for the Characterization of Extra Virgin Olive Oils. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(47), 11696–11703. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf3032765
- Karkoula, E., Skantzari, A., Melliou, E., & Magiatis, P. (2014). Quantitative Measurement of Major Secoiridoid Derivatives in Olive Oil Using qNMR. Proof of the Artificial Formation of Aldehydic Oleuropein and Ligstroside Aglycon Isomers. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62(3), 600–607. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf404421p
- Khalatbary, A. R., & Zarrinjoei, G. R. (2012). Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Oleuropein in Experimental Rat Spinal Cord Trauma. *Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal*, 14(4), 229–234. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3385802/
- King, F. H. (2004). Farmers of Forty Centuries: Organic Farming in China, Korea, and Japan. Courier Corporation.
- Kırış, S., & Velioglu, Y. S. (2016). Reduction in pesticide residue levels in olives by ozonated and tap water treatments and their transfer into olive oil. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, 33(1), 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2015.1114683
- Knorr, D., & Watkins, T. R. (e.d.). *Alterations in Food Production*. New York: Van Nostr and Reinhold.
- Lavelle, P., Decaëns, T., Aubert, M., Barot, S., Blouin, M., Bureau, F., ... Rossi, J.-P. (2006). Soil invertebrates and ecosystem services. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 42, S3–S15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2006.10.002
- Leifeld, J., & Fuhrer, J. (2010). Organic Farming and Soil Carbon Sequestration: What Do We Really Know About the Benefits? *Ambio*, 39(8), 585–599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-010-0082-8
- Lindsay, W. L., Vlek, P. L. G., & Chien, S. H. (2018). Phosphate Minerals. In *Minerals in Soil Environments* (pp. 1089–1130). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssabookser1.2ed.c22
- López-Yerena, A., Lozano-Castellón, J., Olmo-Cunillera, A., Tresserra-Rimbau, A., Quifer-Rada, P., Jiménez, B., ... Vallverdú-Queralt, A. (2019). Effects of Organic and Conventional Growing Systems on the Phenolic Profile of Extra-Virgin Olive Oil. *Molecules*, 24(10), 1986. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24101986
- Lozano-Sánchez, J., Cerretani, L., Bendini, A., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2010). Filtration process of extra virgin olive oil: effect on minor components, oxidative stability and sensorial and physicochemical characteristics. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 21(4), 201– 211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2009.12.004
- Lucas, L., Russell, A., & Keast, R. (2011). Molecular Mechanisms of Inflammation. Anti-Inflammatory Benefits of Virgin Olive Oil and the Phenolic Compound Oleocanthal [Text]. https://doi.org/info:doi/10.2174/138161211795428911
- MacRae, R. J., Hill, S. B., Mehuys, G. R., & Henning, J. (1990). Farm-Scale Agronomic and Economic Conversion from Conventional to Sustainable Agriculture11Ecological Agriculture Projects Research Paper No. 9. In N. C. Brady (Ed.), *Advances in Agronomy* (Vol. 43, pp. 155–198). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60478-2
- Magurran, A. E. (2004). Measuring Biological Diversity. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Malik, N. S., Perez, J. L., Lombardini, L., Cornacchia, R., Cisneros-Zevallos, L., & Braford, J. (2009). Phenolic compounds and fatty acid composition of organic and conventional grown pecan kernels.
Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 89(13), 2207–2213. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.3708

- Mañas, F., Peralta, L., Raviolo, J., Ovando, H. G., Weyers, A., Ugnia, L., ... Gorla, N. (2009). Genotoxicity of glyphosate assessed by the comet assay and cytogenetic tests. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 28(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2009.02.001
- Marfo, J. T., Fujioka, K., Ikenaka, Y., Nakayama, S. M. M., Mizukawa, H., Aoyama, Y., ... Taira, K. (2015). Relationship between Urinary N-Desmethyl-Acetamiprid and Typical Symptoms including Neurological Findings: A Prevalence Case-Control Study. PLoS ONE, 10(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142172
- McKnight, P. E., & Najab, J. (2010). Mann-Whitney U Test. In *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology* (pp. 1–1). American Cancer Society. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0524
- Mena, Y., Nahed, J., Ruiz, F. A., Sánchez-Muñoz, J. B., Ruiz-Rojas, J. L., & Castel, J. M. (2012). Evaluating mountain goat dairy systems for conversion to the organic model, using a multicriteria method. *Animal*, 6(4), 693–703. https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173111100190X
- Mengel, K., Secer, M., & Koch, K. (1981a). Potassium Effect on Protein Formation and Amino Acid Turnover in Developing Wheat Grain1. *Agronomy Journal*, 73(1), 74–78. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1981.00021962007300010018x
- Mengel, K., Secer, M., & Koch, K. (1981b). Potassium Effect on Protein Formation and Amino Acid Turnover in Developing Wheat Grain1. *Agronomy Journal*, 73(1), 74–78. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1981.00021962007300010018x
- Meul, M., Van Passel, S., Nevens, F., Dessein, J., Rogge, E., Mulier, A., & Van Hauwermeiren, A. (2008). MOTIFS: a monitoring tool for integrated farm sustainability. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 28(2), 321–332. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2008001
- Morris, T., Campos, M., Kidd, N., Jervis, M., & Symondson, W. (2001). Dynamic of predatory arthropod community in Spanish olive groves. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 1, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-9563.1999.00030.x
- Mie, A., Andersen, H. R., Gunnarsson, S., Kahl, J., Kesse-Guyot, E., Rembiałkowska, E., ... Grandjean, P. (2017). Human health implications of organic food and organic agriculture: a comprehensive review. *Environmental Health*, 16(1), 111. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0315-4
- Morris, T., & Campos, M. (1999). Predatory insects in olive-grove soil. *Zoologica Baetica*, 10, 149–160.
- Mouas Bourbia, S., Barré, P., Boudiaf Naït Kaci, M., Derridj, A., & Velde, B. (2013). Potassium status in bulk and rhizospheric soils of olive groves in North Algeria. *Geoderma*, 197–198, 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.01.007
- Mouchet, M. A., Villéger, S., Mason, N. W. H., & Mouillot, D. (2010). Functional diversity measures: an overview of their redundancy and their ability to discriminate community assembly rules. *Functional Ecology*, 24(4), 867–876. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01695.x
- Mulero, J., Pardo, F., & Zafrilla, P. (2010). Antioxidant activity and phenolic composition of organic and conventional grapes and wines. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 23(6), 569–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2010.05.001
- Nardo, M., Saisana, M., Saltelli, A., & Tarantola, S. (2005). *Tools for Composite Indicators Building*. European Commission, Italy.

- Neff, R. A., Merrigan, K., & Wallinga, D. (2015). A Food Systems Approach To Healthy Food And Agriculture Policy. *Health Affairs*, 34(11), 1908–1915. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0926
- Neher, D. (2018, May 2). Ecological Sustainability in Agricultural Systems: Definition and Measurement. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203750582-5
- Olsen, S.R., C.W. Cole, F.S. Watanabe, and L.A. Dean. 1954. Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium bicarbonate. p. 1–19. Circular 939. USDA, Washington, DC.
- Palese, A. M., Nuzzo, V., Favati, F., Pietrafesa, A., Celano, G., & Xiloyannis, C. (2010). Effects of water deficit on the vegetative response, yield and oil quality of olive trees (Olea europaea L., cv Coratina) grown under intensive cultivation. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 125(3), 222–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2010.03.025
- Pardini, A., Faiello, C., Longhi, F., Mancuso, S., & Snowball, R. (2002). Cover crop species and their management in vineyards and olive groves. *Advances in Horticultural Science*, 16(3/4), 225–234. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/42883328
- Parkinson (Lucas), L., Russell, A., & Keast, R. (2011). Molecular Mechanisms of Inflammation. Anti-Inflammatory Benefits of Virgin Olive Oil and the Phenolic Compound Oleocanthal. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 17, 754–768. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161211795428911
- Parolin, P., Scotta, M., & Bresch, cécile. (2014). Biology of Dittrichia viscosa, a Mediterranean ruderal plant: a review. *Phyton*, 83, 251–262.
- Payab, A. H., & Türker, U. (2018). Analyzing temporal–spatial characteristics of drought events in the northern part of Cyprus. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 20(4), 1553–1574. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-017-9953-5
- Paz-y-Miño, C., Muñoz, M. J., Maldonado, A., Valladares, C., Cumbal, N., Herrera, C., ... López-Cortés, A. (2011). Baseline determination in social, health, and genetic areas in communities affected by glyphosate aerial spraying on the northeastern Ecuadorian border. *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 26(1), 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1515/reveh.2011.007
- Peck, S., McQuaid, B., & Campbell, C. (1998). Using Ant Species (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) as a Biological Indicator of Agroecosystem Condition. *Environmental Entomology*, 27, 1102–1110. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/27.5.1102
- Petridis, A., Therios, I., Samouris, G., Koundouras, S., & Giannakoula, A. (2012). Effect of water deficit on leaf phenolic composition, gas exchange, oxidative damage and antioxidant activity of four Greek olive (Olea europaea L.) cultivars. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 60, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2012.07.014
- Pimentel, D., Hepperly, P., Hanson, J., Douds, D., & Seidel, R. (2005). Environmental, Energetic, and Economic Comparisons of Organic and Conventional Farming Systems. *BioScience*, 55(7), 573– 582. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0573:EEAECO]2.0.CO;2
- Ponti, L., Gutierrez, A. P., Basso, B., Neteler, M., Ruti, P. M., Dell'Aquila, A., & Iannetta, M. (2013). Olive Agroecosystems in the Mediterranean Basin: Multitrophic Analysis of Climate Effects with Process-based Representation of Soil Water Balance. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, 19, 122– 131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2013.06.014
- Ponti, L., Gutierrez, A. P., Ruti, P. M., & Dell'Aquila, A. (2014). Fine-scale ecological and economic assessment of climate change on olive in the Mediterranean Basin reveals winners and losers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(15), 5598–5603. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314437111

- Ponti, L., Gutierrez, A. P., & Altieri, M. A. (2016). Preserving the Mediterranean Diet Through Holistic Strategies for the Conservation of Traditional Farming Systems. In M. Agnoletti & F. Emanueli (Eds.), *Biocultural Diversity in Europe* (pp. 453–469). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-26315-1 24
- Ponti, T., Rijk, B., & van Ittersum, M. K. (2012). The crop yield gap between organic and conventional agriculture. Agricultural Systems, 108, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2011.12.004
- Popkin, B. M. (2006). Global nutrition dynamics: the world is shifting rapidly toward a diet linked with noncommunicable diseases. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 84(2), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/84.2.289
- Puel, C., Mathey, J., Agalias, A., Kati-coulibaly, S., Mardon, J., Obled, C., ... Coxam, V. (2006). Dose– response study of effect of oleuropein, an olive oil polyphenol, in an ovariectomy/inflammation experimental model of bone loss in the rat. *Clinical Nutrition*, 25(5), 859–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2006.03.009
- Quideau, S., Deffieux, D., Douat-Casassus, C., & Pouységu, L. (2011). Plant Polyphenols: Chemical Properties, Biological Activities, and Synthesis. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 50(3), 586–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201000044
- Reganold, J. P., Papendick, R. I., & Parr, J. F. (1990). Sustainable Agriculture. Scientific American, 262(6), 112–121. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/24996835
- Rey, P. J., Manzaneda, A. J., Valera, F., Alcántara, J. M., Tarifa, R., Isla, J., ... Ruiz, C. (2019). Landscape-moderated biodiversity effects of ground herb cover in olive groves: Implications for regional biodiversity conservation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 277, 61–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2019.03.007
- Rosati, A., Cafiero, C., Paoletti, A., Alfei, B., Caporali, S., Casciani, L., & Valentini, M. (2014). Effect of agronomical practices on carpology, fruit and oil composition, and oil sensory properties, in olive (Olea europaea L.). *Food Chemistry*, 159, 236–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.03.014
- Ruano, F., De Castro Lozano, C., Garcia, P., Pena, A., Tinaut, A., Pascual, F., & Campos, M. (2004). Use of arthropods for the evaluation of the olive-orchard management regimes. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology - AGRIC FOR ENTOMOL*, *6*, 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-9555.2004.00210.x
- Ryan, J., G. Estefan, & Rashid. A. (2001). *Soil and plant analysis lab manual*. 2nd ed. International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dryland Areas (ICARDA), Aleppo, Syria. National Agricultural Research Center, Islamabad, Pakistan
- Sardiñas, H. S., & Kremen, C. (2015). Pollination services from field-scale agricultural diversification may be context-dependent. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 207*, 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.03.020
- Scheller, H. V. (1984). The role of ground beetles (Carabidae) as predators on early populations of cereal aphids in spring barley. *Zeitschrift Für Angewandte Entomologie*, 97(1–5), 451–463. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.1984.tb03775.x
- Scott, J. (2008). Unraveling the mystery of spinosad resistance in insects. Journal of Pesticide Science -J PESTIC SCI, 33, 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1584/jpestics.R08-04
- Seufert, V., & Ramankutty, N. (2017). Many shades of gray—The context-dependent performance of organic agriculture. *Science Advances*, 3(3), e1602638. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1602638

- Sharley, D. J., Hoffmann, A. A., & Thomson, L. J. (2008). The effects of soil tillage on beneficial invertebrates within the vineyard. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 10(3), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-9563.2008.00376.x
- Smith, M. R., & Myers, S. S. (2018). Impact of anthropogenic CO 2 emissions on global human nutrition. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(9), 834–839. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0253-3
- Sommer, R., & Bossio, D. (2014). Dynamics and climate change mitigation potential of soil organic carbon sequestration. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 144, 83–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.05.017
- Song, B. Z., Wu, H. Y., Kong, Y., Zhang, J., Du, Y. L., Hu, J. H., & Yao, Y. C. (2010). Effects of intercropping with aromatic plants on the diversity and structure of an arthropod community in a pear orchard. *BioControl*, 55(6), 741–751. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10526-010-9301-2
- Sonoda, S., Izumi, Y., Kohara, Y., Koshiyama, Y., & Yoshida, H. (2011). Effects of pesticide practices on insect biodiversity in peach orchards. *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, 46(3), 335–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13355-011-0041-2
- Souilem, S., El-Abbassi, A., Kiai, H., Hafidi, A., Sayadi, S., & Galanakis, C. M. (2017). Chapter 1 -Olive oil production sector: environmental effects and sustainability challenges. In C. M. Galanakis (Ed.), *Olive Mill Waste* (pp. 1–28). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805314-0.00001-7
- Sparks, T., Crouse, G., & Durst, G. (2001). Natural products as insecticides: The biology, biochemistry and quantitative structure-activity relationships of spinosyns and spinosoids. *Pest Management Science*, 57, 896–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.358
- Suweis, S., Carr, J. A., Maritan, A., Rinaldo, A., & D'Odorico, P. (2015). Resilience and reactivity of global food security. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(22), 6902–6907. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1507366112
- Swift, M. J., & Anderson, J. M. (1994). Biodiversity and Ecosystem Function in Agricultural Systems. In E.-D. Schulze & H. A. Mooney (Eds.), *Biodiversity and Ecosystem Function* (pp. 15–41). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-58001-7_2
- Tanasijevic, L., Todorovic, M., Pereira, L. S., Pizzigalli, C., & Lionello, P. (2014). Impacts of climate change on olive crop evapotranspiration and irrigation requirements in the Mediterranean region. *Agricultural Water Management*, 144, 54–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2014.05.019
- Thongprakaisang, S., Thiantanawat, A., Rangkadilok, N., Suriyo, T., & Satayavivad, J. (2013). Glyphosate induces human breast cancer cells growth via estrogen receptors. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 59, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2013.05.057
- Tison, L., Hahn, M.-L., Holtz, S., Rößner, A., Greggers, U., Bischoff, G., & Menzel, R. (2016). Honey Bees' Behavior Is Impaired by Chronic Exposure to the Neonicotinoid Thiacloprid in the Field. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02658
- Tomizawa, M., & Casida, J. E. (2000). Imidacloprid, Thiacloprid, and Their Imine Derivatives Up-Regulate the α4β2 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor in M10 Cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, *169*(1), 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.2000.9057
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2019). *World Population Prospects 2019: Highlights* (ST/ESA/SER.A/423).
- Tzouvelekas, V., Pantzios, C. J., & Fotopoulos, C. (2001). Technical efficiency of alternative farming systems: the case of Greek organic and conventional olive-growing farms. Food Policy, 26(6), 549–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-9192(01)00007-0

- United Nations General Assembly. (2017). Work of the Statistical Commission pertaining to the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 6 July 2017. (No. A/RES/71/313). New York, US.
- UNSC. (2017). *Strategic review of the United Nations Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus*. United Nations Security Council, Cyprus.
- van den Bogaard, A. E., & Stobberingh, E. E. (2000). Epidemiology of resistance to antibiotics: Links between animals and humans. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 14(4), 327–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-8579(00)00145-X
- Van Cauwenbergh, N., Biala, K., Bielders, C., Brouckaert, V., Franchois, L., Garcia Cidad, V., ... Peeters, A. (2007). SAFE—A hierarchical framework for assessing the sustainability of agricultural systems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 120(2), 229–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2006.09.006
- Verhoef, H. A., & Selm, A. J. van. (1983). Distribution and population dynamics of Collembola in relation to soil moisture. *Ecography*, 6(4), 387–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1983.tb01234.x
- Vinha, A. F., Ferreres, F., Silva, B. M., Valentão, P., Gonçalves, A., Pereira, J. A., ... Andrade, P. B. (2005). Phenolic profiles of Portuguese olive fruits (Olea europaea L.): Influences of cultivar and geographical origin. *Food Chemistry*, 89(4), 561–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2004.03.012
- Vinod, K. V., Srikant, S., Thiruvikramaprakash, G., & Dutta, T. K. (2015). A fatal case of thiacloprid poisoning. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 33(2), 310.e5-310.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2014.08.013
- Visioli, F., Bellomo, G., & Galli, C. (1998). Free Radical-Scavenging Properties of Olive Oil Polyphenols. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 247(1), 60–64. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.8735
- Visioli, F., Caruso, D., Galli, C., Viappiani, S., Galli, G., & Sala, A. (2000). Olive Oils Rich in Natural Catecholic Phenols Decrease Isoprostane Excretion in Humans. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 278(3), 797–799. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2000.3879
- Visioli, F., & Galli, C. (1994). Oleuropein protects low density lipoprotein from oxidation. *Life Sciences*, 55(24), 1965–1971. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(94)00529-X
- Wang, Z.-H., Li, S.-X., & Malhi, S. (2008). Effects of fertilization and other agronomic measures on nutritional quality of crops. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 88(1), 7–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.3084
- Wheeler, T., & Braun, J. von. (2013). Climate Change Impacts on Global Food Security. *Science*, *341*(6145), 508–513. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1239402
- Willett, W. C., Sacks, F., Trichopoulou, A., Drescher, G., Ferro-Luzzi, A., Helsing, E., & Trichopoulos, D. (1995). Mediterranean diet pyramid: a cultural model for healthy eating. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 61(6), 1402S-1406S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/61.6.1402S
- Williams, C. M. (2002). Nutritional quality of organic food: shades of grey or shades of green? Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 61(1), 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1079/PNS2001126
- Williams, T., Valle Mora, J., & Viñuela, E. (2003). Is the Naturally Derived Insecticide Spinosad® Compatible with Insect Natural Enemies? *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, 13, 459–475. https://doi.org/10.1080/0958315031000140956
- Wyss, E., Luka, H., Pfiffner, L., Schlatter, C., Uehlinger, G., & Daniel, C. (2005). Approaches to management in organic agriculture: a case study in European apple orchards.

- Yang, W., Carmichael, S. L., Roberts, E. M., Kegley, S. E., Padula, A. M., English, P. B., & Shaw, G. M. (2014). Residential Agricultural Pesticide Exposures and Risk of Neural Tube Defects and Orofacial Clefts Among Offspring in the San Joaquin Valley of California. American Journal of Epidemiology, 179(6), 740–748. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt324
- Yano, B. L., Bond, D. M., Novilla, M. N., McFadden, L. G., & Reasor, M. J. (2002). Spinosad Insecticide: Subchronic and Chronic Toxicity and Lack of Carcinogenicity in Fischer 344 Rats. *Toxicological Sciences*, 65(2), 288–298. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/65.2.288

Appendix A

Survey Questionnaire

	Site No Date:
Fa	mer's Details:
Na	ne: Age:
Ed	ication:
Cu	rent size of household:
Siz	e of land under operation: Total:acres
	Olives: acres,trees
1.	Is your farm certified organic? □ Yes, it was certified in □ No.
2.	What olive varieties do you cultivate on your farm?
3.	 Do you till your land? Yes, conventional tillage since Yes, reduced tillage since No, no-till since
4.	Do you intercrop olive trees with other crops? If yes, with what crop and for how long? Yes, with No.
5.	 Do you use cover crops in your orchard? If yes, what cover crops and for how long? Yes, No.
6.	Do you irrigate olive trees? If yes, what system (e.g. drip, sprinklers, etc.) do you use? How often and what's the water usage? Yes,
	□ No.
7.	Do you apply pesticides to your land? If yes, please specify types and frequency. Please also mention if you use pesticides for other crops that are cultivated near the olives.
	□ No.

- 8. Apart from pesticides, do you use any of the following practices to control pests? If yes, please specify.
 - □ Biological control methods.
 - □ Integrated pest management (IPM) methods.
 - □ Physical or pheromone traps
 - \Box Other methods.
- 9. Do you use fertilizers on your farm?
 - □ Yes, chemical fertilizers (specify types and frequency):
 - □ Yes, organic fertilizers of the following types (specify frequency):
 - () Livestock manure_____
 - () Poultry manure_____
 - () Green manure_____
 - () Other (specify)
 - \Box No.
- 10. How do you control weeds?
 - **D** By grazing through animals
 - □ By mechanical weeding (tillage, mowing and/or manual)
 - □ By cover crops and/or intercropping
 - □ By chemical herbicides (specify, e.g. use of round-up)
 - □ Other (specify)_____
- 11. How frequently do you prune the olive trees?
 - \Box Less than once every two years
 - \Box Once every two years
 - \Box Once a year
 - \Box More than once a year

12. What is your farm production of olives and olive oil in the past five years?

- 13. To whom do you sell your olive oil and what is the unit price?
 - □ Directly to consumers
 - □ Retailers
 - □ Wholesalers
 - □ Exporters
 - □ Processors
 - □ Governmental corporation
 - □ Other (specify) _____ Unit price: